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1. Presentation of the Group 
The Trawell Co Group (henceforth also "the Group") is a multinational company operating in the Airport 
Retail market; the latter currently includes almost 4 billion travelers worldwide, and is constantly growing. 

The market for luggage protection is a niche within the more extensive airport retail market. 
Implementation of the service is concentrated within the landside area, prior to check-in, given that it 
targets passengers who must check in their bags prior to departure. 

Founded in 1997 by Rudolph Gentile, a manager with proven experience in the air transport sector, Trawell 
Co S.p.A. (henceforth also "Trawell Co", "Company", or "Parent Company") is a pioneer in the sector of 
baggage wrapping service. 

The Trawell Co Group is currently the world leader and reference model for all companies in the sector, 
both in terms of quality of services and innovation. The strategic vision – along with the significant 
investments in technology, infrastructures and training – have allowed the company to rapidly and 
significantly increase its presence in primary global airports as well as the quality standards of the service 
and the professionalism of its personnel. 

In the near future, Trawell Co S.p.A. will continue to invest in innovation and development with the aim of 
expanding and further consolidating its leadership in the sector. 

 

 

International operations 

During the first half of 2019, Trawell Co S.p.A.  operated in circa 160 sales points located in 55 airports 
(compared to 57 at the end of 2018) as well as one bus station. 

 
 

Of the 55 airports, 26 are in Europe (of which 6 in Italy), 20 in Asia and 9 in America. 

The airports in which the Group has operated during the course of 2019 are listed below: 
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• EUROPE (26 airports) 

o Italy (through Trawell Co S.p.A.) - Venice, Bologna, Genoa, Olbia, Cagliari, Rome; 

o France (through FSB Service Sarl) - Paris Charles De Gaulle, Paris Orly, Nice, Lyon, Marseille, 
Toulouse and Bordeaux; 

o Portugal (through Flysafeb Unipessoal Lda) - Lisbon, Porto, Faro, Ponta Delgada and Madeira; 

o Switzerland (through Safe Bag Sagl) - Zurich; 

o Greece (through Care4Bag) - Athens; 

o Poland (through Safe Bag Polska SP. Z O.O.) - Warsaw (until July 2019) and Krakow; 

o Estonia (through Pack & Fly Group OU) - Tallinn; 

o Latvia (through Pack & Fly Group OU) - Riga; 

o Lithuania (through Pack & Fly Group OU) - Kaunas and Vilnius 

• ASIA (20 airports and one bus station) 

o Russia (through Wrapping Service LLC) – Sheremetyevo, Domodedovo, St. Petersburg (bus 
station), Sochi, Krasnodar, Kazan, Anapa, Gelendjik, Naberezhniye Chelni, Murmansk, 
Astrakhan, Voronezh, Surgut, Ufa, Omsk, Yuzhno-Sakhalinsk and Vladivostok; 

o Kyrgyzstan (through Pack&Fly Group OU) – Bishkek and Business Zal; 

o Thailand (through Pack&Fly Group OU) - Krabi; 

o Philippines (through Pack&Fly Group OU) – Mactan Cebu; 

• AMERICA (9 airports) 

o United States (through Safe Bag USA LLC) – Miami; 

o Canada (through Safe Bag Canada Inc.) - Montréal, Vancouver, Calgary, and Ottawa (until April 
2019); 

o Brazil (through Safe Bag Brasil LTDA) - Rio de Janeiro (until August 2019), Salvador Bahia; 

o Chile (through PackandFly Group OU) - Puerto Montt; 

o Peru (through Safe Bag Latam Peru S.A.C.) - Lima 

 

Trawell Co S.p.A. is listed on the AIM Italia market - Alternative Capital Market, organized and managed 
by Borsa Italiana S.p.A. - London Stock Exchange Group as of September 2013. 

It is the only company throughout the world listed on the stock exchange for this sector. 
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Offered services 

The Trawell Co Group's offer portfolio is the largest and most innovative in the world. 

The standard value proposition offered at most airports includes baggage protection services, the sale of 
travel accessories, and the Weigh & Save service. 

The Baggage Protection service includes two service packages with unique characteristics in the industry: 

• Basic Protection: baggage wrapping with special anti-fire and biodegradable film, and money back 
guarantee for damage and theft of contents 

• Lost & Found Concierge: this service includes: (i) Active and Passive tracking with the SITA 
WorldTracer System; (ii) reimbursement for late delivery of 100 Euro per day after 24 hours (up to 
a maximum of 1,000 Euro) or for a definitive loss up to 4,000 Euro; (iii) Lost & Found 24/7 assistance 
as well as IT services before, during and after the trip. 

For customers who intend to purchase both packages (Basic Protection + Lost & Found Concierge), Trawell 
Co S.p.A. offers a "bundle" offer called Premium Protection at a price discounted with respect to the price 
of individual services. From the beginning of 2018. Trawell Co S.p.A. has also started selling the Platinum 
package which includes Basic Protection and two Lost & Found Concierge services. 

The Lost & Found Concierge service is provided by Sostravel.com S.p.A., a company directly owned by the 
parent company and which is part of the Group (henceforth also "Sostravel.com" or "Sostravel"). 

The offer of Trawell Co S.p.A. is integrated by the sale of Travel Accessories for the comfort and safety of 
passengers during the flight; these are selected from leading global brands. 

The Weigh and Save Service is implemented with a scale that allows for double weighing with a single 
payment. 

In addition, Trawell Co S.p.A. - in certain airports - also offers additional passenger services, including 
baggage storage, baggage delivery, concierge services, etc. 

In particular, the baggage storage service reported a significant growth rate due to the fact that the airport 
is increasingly becoming an important hub for city break travel for tourists. At the moment, the Group 
operates the baggage storage service in 17 airports.  

Development of technological products through Sostravel.com  

During the first half of 2019, the Trawell Co Group continued to invest in the development of its commercial 
offer, in particular within the mobile channel through the subsidiary Sostravel.com S.p.A., a company 
focused on the market for passenger assistance services through an digital platform which can be accessed 
both via mobile device (APP) and online (website). 

The objective of SosTravel.com S.p.A. is to transcend - through an innovative digital platform and a mobile 
device - the current range of passengers services which are characterized by high fragmentation as well as 
complexity of use for the end user, thereby providing added value in terms of improving customer 
experience before, during and after the flight. 

Sostravel.com S.p.A. was founded through the conferral - on the part of Trawell Co S.p.A. - of the company 
branch called "Sostravel.com” which concerns the assets and legal relations instrumental to the exercising 
of  “passenger assistance" activities, including, in particular, those relative to the tracking of lost baggage, 
the provision of airport IT services as well as insurance and other services to airport passengers. 

On 30 July 2018, Borsa Italiana S.p.A. admitted the shares and warrants of Sostravel.com S.p.A. To trading 
within the AIM Italia market. 

In April 2019, the shareholders' meeting of Trawell Co S.p.A. approved the financial statements as of 31 
December 2018 and, at this time, also deliberated to distribute a dividend in kind by assigning shares of 
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Sostravel.com S.p.A. with a book value of 1.27 million Euro (equal to 8.2 cents for each Safe Bag share) and 
a market value of approximately 13 million Euro (equal to 84 cents per Safe Bag share), as proposed by the 
Board. 

As a result of the aforementioned resolution, Trawell Co S.p.A. now holds a shareholding in Sostravel.com 
S.p.A. equal to 11.13% of the relative share capital.  

Sales points 

The Trawell Co Group designs its own sales points internally by collaborating with trusted suppliers and by 
using top quality materials. Each sales point has unique characteristics and is adapted to the spaces and 
needs of airports. 

The sales points vary on the basis of the size and variety of offered services; they are primarily of three 
types: 

• Baggage wrapping stations (Stand Alone) 
• Kiosks with signs and displays for travel accessories 
• Traditional sales points with a wide range of products and services for travelers. 
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All types of sales points are strategically located in departure areas near check-in zones of departing 
passengers and are designed to maximize visibility and the propensity for purchase. 

 

Communication and Marketing 

Trawell Co S.p.A. invests significant resources to constantly improve its image and that of the Group. The 
Company has been capable of creating a strong brand identity which connects passengers emotionally and 
attracts their attention. The logo is a key factor for success: Trawell Co's sales points at the airport are 
elegant, bright and attractive to passengers in addition to being in perfect harmony with the airport’s 
environment. 

Significant resources have been invested in advertising through a variety of channels: printed media, 
billboards, social networks, mailing, co-marketing and TV. Trawell Co's marketing efforts focus both on web-
social media as well as on "traditional" media, inside and outside the airport. 

 

 

Personnel 

Our staff has been the true driving factor for success of the company in the past years as well as its future 
guarantee of success. 
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Trawell Co S.p.A. invests significant resources in attracting, growing and retaining the best talent which 
combines technical expertise with exceptional commercial and customer service skills. 

These prerequisites are attained through the contribution of the following factors: 

• rigorous selection procedures 

• numerous hours of classroom and field training 

• incentive systems to obtain results 

• international promotion and mobility programs. 

 

 
  

Hardware and Software 

The baggage wrapping machines are of the latest generation and are entirely designed and manufactured 
in the Trawell Co plant in Gallarate. Their applied innovative technology allows operators to safely wrap 
baggage in less than 30 seconds. 
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The baggage wrapping machines are equipped with sophisticated software owned by Trawell Co (Revenue 
Control System) and a system of sensors that allow for the detection of economic and operational 
performance in real time. 
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2. Shareholding structure 
 

The Trawell Co Group is formed by the Italian parent company Trawell Co S.p.A. and by its subsidiaries and 
equity investments, as indicated in the following table which is updated as of the date of approval of these 
consolidated half-year financial statements. 

 

 
 

The company Pack & Fly Group OU holds 100% of the share capital of the following companies: UAB Packetas, Bagazh Ltd, Biznes 
Zal Ltd, Pack & Fly Group Chile Spa, Pack and Fly Luggage Wrapping Services Inc, Pack & Fly CO. Ltd. 
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3. Company bodies 
 
 
The composition of company bodies is illustrated below.  
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
        
Chairman     Rudolph Gentile 
    
Deputy Chairman and CEO   Alessandro Notari 
        
Chief Executive Officer     Giuseppe Pasetti* 
        
Non executive director     Roberto Mosca  
        
Non executive director     Giuseppe Gentile 
    
Non executive director     David Debach 
        
Independent director     Roberta Pierantoni 
        
       

BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS 
        
Chairman     Stefano Baruffato 
        
Standing auditors      Antonio Spizzichino/Enrico Orvieto 
        
Alternative Auditors     Michelangelo Rossini/Armando Pontecorvo 
        
        

AUDITING COMPANY 
        
Auditing company     Audirevi 
        

 
NOMAD 

        
Nominated Advisor     Baldi & Partners   
        

All the directors listed above were appointed during the Shareholders' Meeting of 29 April 2019. 
 
 

* On 4 September 2019, the Chief Executive Officer Giuseppe Pasetti resigned for personal reasons and the Deputy Chairman 
Alessandro Notari returned as the sole Chief Executive Officer. On 25 September 2019, the Board of Directors co-opted, in place of 
Mr. Pasetti, Mr.  Francesco Bordiga. 
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4. Trawell Co S.p.A. in the stock exchange  
 

Trawell Co. S.p.A. (previously Safe Bag S.p.A.) was listed on Piazza Affari in September 2013 within the 
AIM Italia market. 
 
AIM Italia is the stock exchange of Borsa Italiana dedicated to SMEs; it allows access to stock markets with 
a simplified listing process and currently contains about one fifth of listed companies.  
 
After having reported - in 2017 - a performance of + 471.7%, (the best in the AIM segment for that year), 
the stock price of Trawell Co S.p.A.  fluctuated around 4 Euro during 2018 and the first half of 2019, starting 
from 5.49 Euro on 2 January 2018 and up to 3.95 Euro on 29 December 2018. During the first half of 2019, 
the stock grew steadily from 3.95 Euro on 2 January 2019 to 4.25 Euro on 28 June 2019. 
 
It should be noted that - on 15 July 2019, and in execution of the resolution approved on 5 July 2019 by the 
extraordinary shareholders' meeting of Trawell Co S.p.A. - the ordinary shares of the Company were 
grouped in the ratio of 1 (one) new ordinary share, without nominal value (ISIN IT0005378325, coupon no. 
1) and with regular dividend, for every 25 (twenty-five) existing ordinary shares (ISIN IT0004954530, coupon 
no. 3), subject to cancellation of 1 (one) ordinary share of the controlling shareholder RG Holding s.r.l. for 
the sole purpose of allowing for the overall reconciliation of the transaction without reducing the total 
amount of the share capital. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Other information on volumes, turnover velocity and volatility 
 
Trends relative to volumes, volatility and turnover velocity (see the graphs below) - factors which are 
occasionally problematic for a market like AIM Italia - were favorable for Trawell Co S.p.A. with a capital 
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turnover for the last 12 months between 1 July 2018 and 28 June 2019 which stood (on an annual basis) at 
31.0% against an AIM Italy average of 38.1% and the MTA of 90.6%. 

 

 
 
 
Stock exchange and Peer Group trends 
 
The following is an analysis of the trends of the Trawell Co S.p.A. peer group (see the tables below). 
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1. Operational trends and business outlook for the Trawell Co Group  
 
The Trawell Co Group - in the first half of 2019 - continued its consolidation process with the fine-tuning of 
its territorial presence, in accordance with economic and financial performance. 

The Group confirmed itself as the industry's only platform for quality, innovation and financial strength, 
capable of promoting an internal growth process through the aggregation of local operators in order to 
constitute the global operator of reference in the sector. 

 

Business dynamics 

As far as business dynamics are concerned, the Group has reconsidered its presence in certain airports (Rio 
de Janeiro and Warsaw) due to unsatisfactory economic results, and on the other hand it has continued the 
policy of opening new airports and extending existing contracts. 

 

The following are the main events relative to the first half of 2019. 

• In March 2019, Trawell Co S.p.A. was awarded the supply of its integrated offer of services for travelers 
at the Cagliari International Airport. The contract will have a duration of three years and the start date 
of operations was in April 2019. Cagliari International Airport, with approximately 4.4 million passengers 
in 2018 - up 10.4% in January 2019 compared to in the same month of 2018 - is the largest Sardinian 
airport. 

• Again in March 2019, the subsidiary Safe Bag Canada Inc. signed a 7-year agreement for the supply of 
its integrated offer of services for travelers at Calgary International Airport - Canada. The start date of 
operations was March 2019. Calgary International Airport - with approximately 17.3 million passengers 
in 2018, an increase of 5.7% in January 2019 compared to the same month in 2018 - is the fourth 
Canadian airport (after Toronto, Vancouver and Montreal). 

• Again in March 2019, the subsidiary FSB Service Sarl was awarded - for an additional four years - the 
supply of its integrated offer of services for travelers at the International Airport of Marseille - France. 
The agreement provides for a further extension of the services portfolio, based on the concept of a true 
service center. The Marseille airport, where the Trawell Co Group has been operational since 2010, is 
the sixth largest airport in France with over 9.3 million passengers in 2018. 

• Again in March 2019, the subsidiary Wrapping Service LLC was awarded Terminal C of Sheremetyevo 
Airport (Moscow) - Russia for seven years. The subsidiary, already operational in terminals B, D (only 
for the storage point service), E, and F of the same airport will therefore be present, as of 1 January 
2019, also in Terminal C which was reviewed as a “Terminal 5 Stars” by the British association SkyTrax, 
specialized in reviewing airports and airlines. The Moscow Sheremetyevo airport is the most important 
airport in Russia, with circa 40 million passengers in 2018 and of which 18 million pass through Terminal 
C. Following the opening of Terminals C1 and C2, scheduled for the end of the year, Sheremetyevo's 
transit capacity will increase to 100 million passengers. 

 

Following the acquisition of the Pack & Fly Group, Care4Bags and renewals/openings in the first half of 2019, 
the duration of the licensing portfolio of Trawell Co S.p.A. (average duration of licenses weighted on the 
basis of turnover) was two years as of 30 June 2019. 
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The following events occurred after 30 June 2019. 

• In July 2019, the subsidiary PackandFly Group OU won the tender and renewed the license for an 
additional five years within the Lithuanian airports of Vilnius and Kaunas. The airport of Vilnius is the 
most important airport in Lithuania - with circa 5 million passengers in 2018, an increase of 3.4% in the 
first four months of 2019 - while the Kaunas airport, with 1 million passengers in 2018, increased by 
16.9% in the first four months of 2019. 

• Again in July 2019, the subsidiary Safe Bag GmbH renewed the license for an additional three years at 
Zurich airport. Zurich airport is the most important airport in Switzerland, with circa 31 million 
passengers in 2018, up 2.7% in the first four months of 2019. 

• Again in July 2019, the subsidiary Wrapping Service LLC was awarded the tender for a new five-year 
license at Krasnoyarsk Siberian airport. Krasnoyarsk airport is one of the most important airports in 
Siberia, with circa 2.5 million passengers in 2018, up 2.7% in the first four months of 2019. 

• Again in July 2019, the subsidiary Wrapping Service LLC was awarded the tender and renewed the 
contract at Kazan airport in European Russia. Kazan airport, one of the main airports in European Russia 
with about 2.5 million passengers in 2018, was stable in the first six months of 2019. 

 
 
 

Corporate and shareholding changes 

With regard to corporate and shareholder dynamics, the main events that occurred in the first half of 2019 
are outlined below. 

• In April 2019, Safe Bag’s shareholders' meeting approved the financial statements as of 31 December 
2018 and 

- Deliberated to distribute a dividend in kind by assigning Sostravel shares with a book value 
of 1.27 million Euro (equal to 8.2 cents for each Safe Bag share) and a market value of 
approximately 13 million Euro (equal to 84 cents per Safe Bag share), as proposed by the 
Board of Directors; 

- appoints the new Board of Directors;  

- deliberates to change its name to Trawell Co S.p.A. 

Following this assignment in kind of shares, the company now holds 11.13% of the share 
capital. On the basis of this shareholding, and as of 30 June, the net assets subject to 
distribution have been reclassified under "non-current assets held for distribution to 
shareholders” - in accordance with IFRS5 - while the minority share was re-classified under 
other financial assets valuated at fair value. 

• Again in April 2019, the Board of Directors of Trawell Co S.p.A. granted mandate to the Chairman to 
initiate preparatory activities for the double listing on Nasdaq by joining the programs “American 
Depositary Receipt - Sponsored Level I” (ADRs) and “Nasdaq International Designation”; these serve 
the purpose of allowing the stock of Trawell Co S.p.A. to be traded - with the endorsement and 
sponsorship of the Nasdaq International Company - within the US market. In June 2019, the SEC 
successfully completed the audits for the launch of the American Depositary Receipt - Sponsored Level 
I (ADRs) program in partnership with Nasdaq. Therefore, from June 14, the certificates representing 
the shares of Trawell Co S.p.A. can be legitimately issued and traded on the US market through the 
custodian bank J.P. Morgan Chase Bank N.A. 
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• In May 2019, certain leading institutional investors entered the company's share capital with 4.04% 
and with the aim of bringing the float firmly above 20% of share capital. The operation involved Banca 
Finnat S.p.A. acting as an intermediary and took place off-market through a procedure which was 
managed directly by the bank and which led to the entry of long-term institutional investors, including 
four different investment funds and two primary Italian investment banks.  

 

 

 

The following events occurred after 30 June 2019. 

• In July 2019, the extraordinary shareholders' meeting in  approved the operation of grouping together 
the shares constituting the entire share capital of the Company with the ratio of 1 (one) new ordinary 
share every 25 (twenty-five) ordinary shares of the Company, resulting in the consequent amendment 
of Art. 5 of the Articles of Association. The shareholders' meeting also approved the amendment of Art. 
11 of the Articles of Association, expanding the number of national newspapers on which it is possible 
to publish future notices convening the meeting. 
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2. Economic performance of the Trawell Co Group 
 
The Group closed the first half of 2019 with revenues of 22.4 million Euro (+ 23%), with EBITDA decreasing 
due to extraordinary events that occurred during the half-year and an adjusted EBT (economic result net of 
non-recurring items and taxes) equal to 3.0 million Euro (+ 18%)  
 
The consolidated economic/financial results as of 30 June 2019: 
 

 

 
 
A comparison of the data as of 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018 is provided below:  
 

• REVENUES equal to 22.4 million Euro, up 23%; 
 

• Adjusted EBITDA decreased from +3.0 to +2.3 million Euro, down by 0.7 million Euro (-23%);  
 
• Adjusted EBIT equal to 1.5 million Euro, down by 1.1 million Euro (-42%); 

 
• EBT decreased from +2.5 to +1.7 million Euro, down by 0.8 million Euro (-33%); 

 
• NET INCOME decreased from +1.9 to +1.0 million Euro, down by 0.9 million Euro (-48%); 

  
• NFP increased from 1.8 to 5.1 million Euro, an increase of 3.3 million Euro; 

(data in Mil €) Bus. Plan (**)

30-Jun-2019 30-Jun-2018 Total Perc. (%) 2019

REVENUES 22,4 18,3 4,1 23% 51,6

EBITDA Adjusted (*) 2,3 3,0 (0,7) -23% 8,8

EBITDA 1,1 3,0 (2,0) -65% 8,8

EBIT Adjusted (*) 1,5 2,6 (1,1) -42% 8,1

EBIT 0,2 2,6 (2,4) -91% 8,1

EBT Adjusted (*) 3,0 2,5 0,5 18% 7,9

EBT 1,7 2,5 (0,8) -33% 7,9

P&L 1,0 1,9 (0,9) -48% 5,7

30-Jun-2019 30-Jun-2018 var. %

NFP 5,1 1,8 3,3 186% 1,2

NFP - Short Term (1,4) (5,7) 4,3 75% n.d.

Weighted average life of the 
concession holder

2,0 2,4 n.d.

Consolidated Financial statement
Variation

* the figure for EBITDA Adjusted, EBIT Adjusted ed EBT Adjusted at 30.06.19 (final) includes a 1.2M€ adjustments related to:
(i) Start-up costs for new concessions/exit from non-strategic concessions 
(ii) Non-recurring / terminating costs

** The Plan approved in November 2018 did not include sostravel, as it was the object of spinoff during 2019
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• Weighted average duration of the contract portfolio was two years. 
 

 
Comments on the primary consolidated economic results as of 30 June 2019 
 
The growth in revenues was due to the inclusion of the revenues of the subsidiaries Pack & Fly 
(consolidated last year - due to a technical factor - only for margins and not for revenues) and Care4Bag (last 
year not present given that it was acquired in the second half of 2018). 
 
The analysis of revenues by geographical area confirmed - in the first half of 2019 - growing international 
diversification, with Russia as the Group's first market with approximately 26% of revenues, the United 
States and France as the second market with circa 22% of revenues each, Italy with 10%, followed by 
Portugal and Estonia with circa 5% each, Canada and Greece with circa 3% each, Switzerland and Brazil both 
with circa 2% and, finally, Poland with circa 1%. Peru has no significant revenues given that operations 
started in the last ten days of June. 
 

 
 

 

Nation June-19 % June-18 %
Italy 2.110.267          10% 2.480.266          15%
France 4.690.969          22% 4.644.072          27%
Portugal 1.163.930          5% 1.230.581          7%
Switzerland 451.680              2% 821.605              5%
USA (*) 4.748.385          22% 4.862.659          29%
Poland 139.270              1% 151.954              1%
Brazil 335.785              2% -                       0%
Russia 5.604.249          26% 1.514.976          9%
Estonia 1.165.660          5% 649.002              4%
Greece 599.733              3% -                       0%
Peru 6.922                  0% -                       0%
Canada 637.384              3% 602.366              4%

21.654.235        16.957.481        

(*) At 30 June 2019 5.362  thousand US$/ at 30 June 2018 5.867 thousand US$

Italy; 2.110

France; 4.691

Portugal; 1.164

Switzerland; 452
USA (*); 4.748

Poland; 139

Brazil; 336

Russia; 5.604

Estonia; 1.166
Greece; 600

Perù; 7
Canada; 637

SALES BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREA
(€ x 1.000) 

Italy France Portugal Switzerland USA (*) Poland Brazil Russia Estonia Greece Perù Canada
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Adjusted EBITDA amounted to approximately 2.3 million Euro, down 0.7 million Euro (-23.0%) compared to 
the same figure in 2018. This decrease was mainly caused by the dynamics in progress at Rome Fiumicino 
airport, where 30% of the traffic was transferred - in a completely unexpected way - from Terminal 3, where 
the Company is present, to Terminal 1, where the Company is not operational. 
  
The adjustments (ie non-recurring items) can, on the other hand, be summarized as relative to two macro 
areas: 

• Start-up cost of new licenses and exit from non-strategic licenses for 0.8 million Euro: Lima, Brazil, 
Poland; 

• Ceasing and non-recurring costs for 0.4 million Euro: Studies of leading consulting companies for 
business development, accumulation of French subsidiary’s holidays. 
 

Adjusted EBIT is positive for around 1.5 million Euro, down by 1.1 million Euro (-42%). This result was 
determined not only by the effect of the aforementioned elements on adjusted EBITDA but also by 
amortization, depreciation and provisions for a total of 0.8 million Euro. 
 
Adjusted EBT is positive for circa 3.0 million Euro, up by 0.5 million Euro (+ 18%). This result was determined 
not only by the effect of the aforementioned elements on adjusted EBIT but also by financial charges equal 
to 0.3 million Euro in addition to the valuation at fair value compared to the book value - on the date of the 
resolution of the distribution of dividends in kind (29 April 2019), as per IFRS 10 - of the minority shareholding 
in Sostravel.com S.p.A. totaling 1.7 million Euro. 
  
Net INCOME was positive for around 1.0 million Euro, down by 0.9 million Euro (-48%), even if burdened by 
taxes for 0.7 million Euroand interest expense for circa 0.3 million Euro. 
 
Net financial debt (NFP) amounted to 5.1 million Euro, up 3.3 million Eurocompared to 31 December 2018; 
this was mainly due to the deconsolidation of the subsidiary sostravel.com S.p.A. for a value of 1.8 million 
Euro. 
 
Also in the light of the half-year data, the Company's management remains confident that it will still be 
capable of attaining the economic-financial figures for 2019 forecasted in the Industrial Plan approved in 
November 2018 (see press release of 29 November 2018) given that: (i) the operations of the group are 
structurally affected by strong seasonality and that the third quarter of the year is, traditionally, the one that 
most strongly affects the profitability of the group; and  (ii) important actions are already underway for the 
purposes of promoting the further expansion of operations by entering new strategic airports and completing 
the acquisition transaction currently under negotiation. 
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Consolidated financial statements as of 30 June 2019 
 
 

Consolidated income statement 
 
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Values in Euro (consolidated financial statements) 30-Jun-2019 % 30-Jun-2018 % Var 19-18 Var.  %

Revenues 21.654.235 97% 16.957.481 93% 4.696.754 28%
Other revenues 767.202 3% 1.335.678 7% (568.476) -43%
Total revenues 22.421.437 100,0% 18.293.159 100,0% 4.128.278 23%
Cost of sales 1.653.170 7% 1.299.930 7% 353.240 27%
Service costs 11.209.009 50% 8.428.520 46% 2.780.489 33%
Personnel costs 6.970.903 31% 5.324.409 29% 1.646.494 31%
Other costs 1.531.523 7% 217.851 1% 1.313.672 603%

EBITDA 1.056.832 4,7% 3.022.449 16,5% (1.965.617) -65%
Amortization (624.211) -3% (385.582) -2% (238.629) 62%
Svalutazioni 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
Allocations (200.256) -1% (50.518) 0% (149.738) 296%
EBIT 232.365 17,9% 2.586.349 14,1% (2.353.984) -91%
Financial income and charges (net) 1.451.092 6% (83.046) 0% 1.534.138 -1847%
Revaluations / Write-downs of financial assets 0 0% 0 0% 0 n/a
Profit (loss) before taxes 1.683.457 7,5% 2.503.303 13,7% (819.846) -33%
Taxes (697.915) (3%) (600.727) (3%) (97.188) 16%
Net Income 985.542 4,4% 1.902.576 10,4% (917.034) -48%
P&L of third party (554.020) -2% (872.562) -5% 318.542 -37%
Result pertaining to the Group 431.522 1,9% 1.030.014 5,6% (598.492) -58%
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Consolidated balance sheet 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Consolidated net financial position 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Values in Euro (consolidated financial statements) 30-Jun-2019 31-Dec-2018

Intangible fixed assets 23.044.105 24.311.961
Tangible fixed assets 3.931.927 4.319.689
(A) Capital assets 26.976.032 28.631.650
Inventories 1.121.950 1.000.205
Trade receivables 2.278.526 1.512.769
Other assets 12.846.802 4.435.632
Trade payables (7.804.914) (3.661.485)
Other liabilities (8.571.506) (2.741.700)
(B) Operating working capital (129.142) 545.421

(C)   Total provisions (676.240) (908.546)
(D)=(A)+(B)+(C)  Net invested capital 26.170.650 28.268.525
Liquid funds 2.965.917 6.464.789
Current financial receivables 1.415.962 1.343.478
Financial liabilities (9.568.420) (9.595.994)
(E) Net financial payables/receivables (5.186.540) (1.787.727)
Shareholders’ equity 20.984.110 26.480.798
(G)= (F)- (E) Sources 26.170.650 28.268.525

Values in Euro (separate financial statements)  30 June 2019  31 December 2018 

A Liquid funds 2.677                                
B Other liquid assets 2.965.917                         6.462.112                         
C Securities held for trading
D Liquidity (A + B + C) 2.965.917                         6.464.789                         
E Current financial receivables 1.415.962                         1.343.479                         
F Current bank payables 582.744                            916.278                            
G Current portion of non-current debt 2.032.342                         1.163.029                         
H Other current financial payables 320.549                            -                                   
I Current financial debt (F + G + H) 2.935.635                         2.079.307                         
J Net current financial debt (I-E-D) (1.446.244) (5.728.961)
K Non current bank payables 6.089.655                         6.943.587                         
L Bonds issued
M Other non-current payables 465.662                            573.100                            
N Non-current financial debt (K + L + M) 6.555.317                         7.516.687                         
O Net financial debt (J + N) 5.109.072 1.787.726

P Adjustment for deposits at airports, restricted bank accounts and 
securities                          1.487.918                          1.017.979 

Q Total adjusted NFP (O-P) 3.621.154 769.747



  Report on Operations 

24 
 

 
3. Other information 
 
This section provides a series of information consistent with the provisions of Art. 2428. 
 

Operational risks and uncertainties 

The operational structures of the Company and of the Group are particularly careful in identifying and 
monitoring the typical risks of operations, with the dual objective of providing management with the 
appropriate tools for adequate management and maximizing the protection of corporate assets. 

In accordance with the disclosure obligations introduced by Legislative Decree no. 32/2007 (which 
implemented Directive 2003/51/EC), it is necessary to identify the risks associated with the operations of 
Trawell Co S.p.A., which can currently be identified as the following: 

• risk linked to competition and the entry of new market players within the sector of reference as 
well as competition in terms of prices and service quality (underlying technology); 

• market risk due to potential economic recessions within national and international markets as well 
as due to geopolitical causes; 

• liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest rate risk: see the description in this Report under 
paragraph 5 of the "Explanatory notes to the consolidated financial statements". 

Operational risks can be generated from the inadequacy of processes and company systems that support 
core business functions. In the case of the Group, operational risks primarily refer to the possibility of losing 
essential information for company operations as a result of problems associated with the luggage wrapping 
machines or the management of the IT system or the data management system. The Group monitors this 
type of risk both at the level of first line departments as well as within specific operating units. 

Legal disputes 

Legal suit filed by Trawell Co S.p.A. against SEA, ADR and True Star Group s.p.a. (Court of Milan – G.r. no. 
40032/2014; Court of Appeals of Milan – G.R. no. 5043/2017). 

By means of sentence no. 3362/2019, the Court of Appeal of Milan reached a judgement filed under General 
Registry no. 5043/2017 concerning the appeal of sentence no. 7532/2017 of the Court of Milan, delivered 
on 5 July 2017, and which had: (i) ascertained and declared that, as of 2007, SEA - Società Per Azioni Esercizi 
Aeroportuali, for the airports of Malpensa and Linate - and ADR - Aeroporti di Roma spa, for Fiumicino 
airport - had engaged, even in agreement with TrueStar Group SpA, in «conduct that constitutes a violation 
of the competition rules sanctioned by Articles 101 and 102 of the TFEU and by Articles 2 and 3 of law 
287/1990 »; (ii) prohibited SEA and ADR, with reference to future negotiations between the counterparties, 
«from entrusting airport baggage handling areas directly to TrueStar Group SpA with exclusive rights while 
providing for a penalty of Euro 200,000.00 for each violation ». 

As previously announced, the appeal judgement was initiated by a writ of summons notified on 2 November 
2017 with which SEA had challenged the first instance sentence, requesting the amendment and suspension 
of the executive effectiveness of the elements of the sentence which were unfavorable to it. 

Similarly, Truestar and ADR, with briefs filed on 8 and 30 November 2017, had filed a cross appeal against 
the elements of the first instance sentence which had ruled against them. 

Trawell Co S.p.A. had finally appeared in the appeals proceedings on 25 January 2018, requesting the 
rejection of the opposing appeals and, in turn, initiating a cross appeal against certain elements of the first 
instance sentence. 
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With the aforementioned sentence, the Milan Court of Appeals fully confirmed the Court's rulings. 

 

Opposition proceedings against an injunction initiated by Trawell Co S.p.A. against the bankruptcy of Vero 
Comunication s.r.l. (Court of Busto Arsizio – GR no. 7467/2018) 

On 19 November 2018, the bankruptcy of Vero Comunication s.r.l. notified Trawell Co S.p.A. of injunction 
under G. R. no.  6473/2018 of 14 November 2018, issued by the Court of Busto Arsizio, ordering the payment 
of the amount of 39.650,00 Euro in addition to the interest and expenses of the warning procedure, 
liquidated in 1,305.00 Euro. 

By writ of summons dated 21 December 2018 Trawell Co S.p.A. Initiated the opposition proceedings to the 
aforementioned decree, disputing the claims of the bankruptcy of Vero Comunication s.r.l. 

On 24 July 2019, the Parties reached a settlement agreement which, amongst other items, provides for the 
waiver- against the payment in full by Trawell Co SpA of the amount of 10,000.00 Euro - on the part of all 
parties to any opposing claim and termination of the judgment pursuant to Art. 309 of the Italian Code of 
Civil Procedure. 
 

Relations with financial administrations (in particular Italy and France) 

As regards relations with the Italian tax authorities, it should be noted that, in June 2018, a general tax audit 
was completed for the purposes of direct taxes, IRAP and VAT to be paid by Trawell Co S.p.A.; it was 
conducted by the Italian Internal Revenue Agency - Varese Office. The tax periods affected by the audit were 
those from 2013 to 2016 and the findings charged against the Company involved transfer prices applied in 
the context of different types of inter-group transactions and implemented during these tax periods with 
foreign subsidiaries.  

On 27 December 2018, the Italian Internal Revenue Agency - Rome Office 1, sent the Company two notices 
of assessment relative to the 2013 tax period: one for the IRES corporate income tax and one for IRAP, the 
Regional Tax on Production Activities; these notices of assessment were received by Trawell Co S.p.A.  
respectively on 9 January and 3 January 2019.  

On 21 January 2019, the tax settlement proposals relative to each of the two notices of assessment received 
by the Company were sent to the Rome Office 1 by registered letter with acknowledgment of receipt. 

Following the filing of the tax settlement proposal for the 2013 tax period, meetings began with the Italian 
Internal Revenue Agency. More specifically, and following discussions with both of the involved Offices (ie, 
Rome and Varese), a request was made, and accepted, that - even if formally the procedure had started 
with reference to the 2013 tax period - all disputed positions be simultaneously negotiated and therefore 
also the findings raised in 2014, 2015 and 2016 should be discussed  given that they are the result of the 
replication of the same criteria adopted with reference to the 2013 tax year . 

At the end of the negotiations between the Company and the aforementioned Offices, the tax settlement 
process for 2013 was concluded on 30 May 2019 in Rome with the signing of the relevant deed. 

Subsequently, the Italian Internal Revenue Agency - Varese Office, in accordance with the settlement deed 
signed with the Rome Office, notified the company of invitations to initiate the tax settlement procedures 
for the years 2014-2016. As a result, and following specific joint discussions, the signing of the tax 
settlements deeds relative to these years was completed on 14 June 2019. 

Therefore, to date, all the disputes arising as a result of the tax audit concluded in June 2018 can be 
considered settled. With reference to the entire four-year period, the Company - following the agreements 
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that were reached - will proceed to pay the tax authorities a total amount of approximately 650 thousand 
Euro, disbursed in accordance with the law. 

It should also be noted that, on 15 May 2019, the - Gallarate Tax Police Unit completed an initial access 
within the Company's headquarters in order to initiate tax audits for the tax periods from 2017 to today's 
date. Following this initial access, the Company received no visits. We await future developments. 

In relation to relations with the financial administrations of the countries where the Group is present with 
its own branches, it should be noted that - with regard to France -  an audit was concluded in December 
2017 for the 2013-2014-2015 -2016 tax periods and in relation to FSB Service Sarl; this led the French Tax 
Office to initiate a dispute in relation to transfer prices for only the 2013 tax year and - in this case - regarding 
charges for services from the parent company Safe Bag S.p.A.. 

In the beginning of 2018, the tax litigation avoidance procedures provided for by French legislation were 
initiated. Following joint discussions, the French financial administration - in January 2019 - agreed to a 
decrease of more than two thirds of the amount of greater taxable income that was initially claimed. 

After a careful evaluation, the company FSB Service Sarl decided to initiate the international procedures 
that can be implemented so that the dispute may be definitively settled by direct discussions between the 
financial administrations involved. In relation to this, and by means of a letter dated 6 August 2019, the 
competent French office thereby notified FSB Service Sarl of its formal admission to the European 
Arbitration Agreement. 

R&D activities 

The Group continues to invest significant resources in R&D activities while focusing on two primary areas: 
• monitoring of commercial and operational performance at sales points with the development of 

innovative upgrades of proprietary software installed in the wrapping machines (Revenue Control 
System); 

• development of innovative services for travelers on mobile and web channels focused on the new 
company Sostravel.com S.p.A. (please refer to Chapter A.1 "Presentation of the Group" for 
more details). 

 

Activities linked to the certifications 

In 2019 Trawell Co S.p.A. maintained the following certifications: 
 
• ISO 9001: 2015 (quality management system),  
• ISO 22301 (Business Continuity management system),   
• OHSAS 18001 (health and safety management system). 
 
ISO certifications:  
 
During 2019, the annual maintenance procedures for the certifications were satisfactory and it was noted 
that the Quality System was effectively managed and applied. 
 
The positive aspects - also reported in the last AUDIT - include the following: 
 

- We report several BC test reports relative to IT and operational processes 
- The interviewed staff was available and prepared 
- The operational wrapping process is monitored in real time and in an automated manner 
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Organizational Model 

Trawell Co S.p.A. has adopted the Organization, Management and Control Model (OMCM) pursuant to 
Legislative Decree 231/2001. The Company also assigned the task of supervising the proper functioning of 
the OMCM to a sole Supervisory Body (hereinafter also "SB"), as envisaged by the same decree. The 
Supervisory Body (composed of Dr. Cinzia Berlingeri) operates on the basis of an annual activity plan and 
drafts - at the time of the audits - the relative minutes, in addition to the annual report for the Board of 
Directors. Although not mandatory, the minutes of the SB are transcribed in a stamped book given that the 
company has decided to ascribe more official status to the activities carried out under decree 231/2001. In 
the first half of 2019, audits were conducted as per the activity plan. The SB also met the CEO in office during 
the first half of 2019, Mr. Giuseppe Pasetti, and illustrated the control protocols to all the company divisions 
that are affected. No violations of the code of ethics or of the provisions of the OMCM have been reported. 

 

Safety and work environment 

The company Trawell Co S.p.A. has implemented a OHSAS 18001 management system in order to improve 
the health and safety of workers in the workplace, in compliance with the provisions of Legislative Decree 
No. 81 of 9 April 2008. 

As part of the OHSAS 18001 certification, the employer has: 

• specified the scope of application of current regulations on health and safety in the workplace; 
• identified the parties delegated to: The organization of company activities (managers); the 

management of prevention and protection measures; and the distribution and management of 
individual protection devices (supervisors); 

• specified the methodologies used for risk assessments and improved the risk assessment pursuant 
to letter a) of paragraph 1 of Article 28 of Legislative Decree 81/2008; 

•  improved and adjusted the risk assessments to current legislation (e.g. manual handling of loads by 
using the NIOSH method); 

• adopted prevention and protection measures, including the choice of personal protective 
equipment according to letter b) paragraph 2 of Article 28 of Legislative Decree 81/2008; 

• prepared and updated the risk assessment document; 
• adjusted the company emergency plans to those of airport authorities (Fiumicino and Bologna); 
• Provided general training to workers (current legislation, risk concepts, safety personnel, etc.) as 

well as specific training (risks and company prevention and protection measures) and customized 
training (managers, supervisors, workers' safety representative, first aid and prevention and fire 
fighting employees as well as workers involved in the operation of lift trucks); 

• organized the periodic meeting of the prevention and protection service; 
• implemented the annual fire drill at the headquarters of Gallarate; 
• ensured the participation of workers in fire drills held at the airports. 

The aforementioned actions have certainly implemented the provisions of company policy regarding the 
health and safety of workers in the workplace, thereby achieving the following objectives: 

• establishing a management system to eliminate or minimize risks to the health and safety of 
workers and other parties involved in company operations; 

• implementing, maintaining and continuously improving the health and safety management system 
for workers in the workplace; 

• ensuring, in itself, compliance with the health and safety policy for workers at the workplace; 
• demonstrating this compliance to others (private individuals and control bodies); 
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• certify/register the system through an external organization. 

Operations with related parties 

Operations with related parties essentially concern the exchange of goods, the supply of services, the supply 
and use of financial resources with subsidiary, associated and other controlled companies and the 
optimization of Group treasury management. These relations fall within the ordinary operations of the 
company and are implemented at normal market conditions, ie at conditions which are established between 
independent parties. 
 
The parent company Trawell Co S.p.A. holds equity investments in the following companies (with the 
percentages indicated in chapter A, paragraph 2 "Shareholding structure" of this Report): 
 

• FSB Service Sarl, a company incorporated under French law with a share capital of Euro 50,000.00; 

• Fly Safeb Unipessoal Lda, a company incorporated under Portuguese law with a share capital of Euro 
20,000.00; 

• Safe Bag USA LLC, established for business development in the United States and, specifically, within 
the Miami Airport. SafeWrap of Florida JV LLC is part of this company; Safe Bag USA LLC retains a 
direct shareholding of 74.5%; 

• Safe Bag Sagl, a company incorporated under Swiss law with a share capital of Swiss Francs 
20,000.00; 

• Safe Bag Brasil LTDA, a Brazilian company, 99% owned by Safe Bag USA LLC and 1% by Trawell Co 
S.p.A .; 

• Safe Bag Canada INC, company incorporated under Canadian law with a share capital of Canadian 
Dollars 140.60;  

• Safe Bag Polska SP. Z O.O., a company incorporated under Polish law, share capital Zloty 5,000.00; 

• Sostravel.com S.p.A., a company incorporated under Italian law, share capital as of 30 June 2019 
equal to Euro 593,400; following the assignment of the Bonus Shares of Sostravel shares, the share 
capital amounted to € 598,122 on 11 September 2019; 

• Wrapping Service LLC, a company incorporated under Russian law, share capital of Ruble 10,000; 

• Pack&Fly Group OU, a company incorporated under Estonian law, share capital of Euro 2,500; 

• Safe Bag Latam Peru S.A.C, a company incorporated under Peruvian law with share capital of Sol 
3.000, 99% owned by Trawell Co S.p.A. and 1% by Safe Bag Brasil LTDA; 

• Care4Bag, a company incorporated under Greece law, share capital of Euro 24,000; 

As of the date of approval of this Report, the company was owned by the following entities: (i) 56.56% by 
RG Holding s.r.l., (ii) 9.19% by AC Holding Investments S.A. (however this shareholding is still subject to the 
restriction deriving from a judicial seizure order, previously granted in favor of Retailer Group Srl, now 
merged into RG Holding srl) and 6.45% by Marchin Investments SA, 4.77% by Polad Akhmedov and 
Alexander Fedoseev and the remaining 23.04% by the market. 
 
It should be noted that, on 3 September 2013, the Board of Directors approved the "Procedure on 
Transactions with Related Parties of the Companies" which governs rules relative to the identification, 
approval and execution of transactions with related parties and implemented by the Company in order to 
ensure the transparency as well as substantial and procedural correctness. It should also be noted that - 
given that Trawell Co S.p.A. acquired, effective as of 1 January 2018, the status of "Issuer of financial 
instruments which are extensively owned by the public" ("Extensive Issuer") pursuant to Art. 116 of the 



  Report on Operations 

29 
 

Consolidated Financial Act and Article 2-bis of the Issuers Regulation adopted by Consob with resolution No. 
11971/1999 - the audits and activities required for  an update of the aforementioned “Procedure” are 
currently underway.         
With regard to the details of the transactions implemented with related parties during the first half of 2018, 
please refer to that noted in the specific paragraphs of the Explanatory Notes to this Report. 

Management and coordination activities  

The Company is subject to the management and coordination of the parent company RG Holding S.r.l which 
directly holds, as of the present date, 56.56% of the shares representing the share capital of Trawell Co 
S.p.A.. 

Current relations with RG Holding S.r.l. are of a commercial nature and are, for the most part, financial; they 
refer to financing operations from and to the parent company.  

Own shares 

During the first half of 2019, Trawell Co S.p.A. has not purchased or sold its own shares, either directly or 
through its subsidiaries or through third parties, and as of the date of approval of this Report it does not 
hold any own shares, either directly or through its subsidiaries or third parties. 
 
Information on the environment and personnel 
 
In compliance with the provisions of Article 2428, paragraph 2 of the Italian Civil Code, it should be noted 
that: 
 
the company implements its operations in full compliance with provisions on safety, the environment and 
hygiene in the workplace. 

The management of human resources involves a continual and constant process of training and updating in 
order to create incentives for personnel to pursue professional development. In order to improve the 
services offered by its personnel at the airport, the Trawell Co Group has continued to provide training 
courses aimed at optimizing organizational skills as well as customer approach and sales attitudes.  

With regard to the organization of personnel, the organizational chart has been streamlined by opportunely 
separating departments and identifying roles, responsibilities and job tasks.  

 

IT privacy 

During the course of 2018, Trawell Co S.p.A. has provided for the updating and consolidation of the 
corporate system for the management of compliance with privacy regulations based on the EU regulation 
2016/679. 

Based on that summarized by the Personal Data Protection Manager in the Annual Report of 06/03/2019, 
this operation, led by the staff of a consulting company, has allowed the company to take the following 
measures:   

• updating of the processing map and preparation of processing records;   

• formulation of the terms of agreement to be established with suppliers and partners in order to 
ensure the protection and security of personal data and comply with the relative legal obligations;  

• risk analysis of processes involving the processing of personal data and definition of appropriate 
improvement actions for the protection and security of personal data;   
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• formalization of authorizations for the treatment of internal personnel and definition of specific 
tasks for system administrators;   

• preparing and transmission of information for employees, collaborators, customers and suppliers;   

• definition and sharing with internal staff of measures to be taken in the event of data security 
breaches  

• initiation of the impact assessment process and undersigning of a trade union agreement for the 
processing of personal data connected to the "SBDATA Manager" software;  

• signing of a trade union agreement for the processing of personal data relative to video surveillance 
activities within company kiosks;  

• appointment of the Data Protection Officer (Ms. Virginia Basiricò) and notification to the Guarantor.  

In addition, and given the change in the company name from Safe Bag S.p.A. to Trawell Co S.p.A., dated 7 
May 2019, the management system is being updated. 
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1. Consolidated financial statements 
 

Consolidated financial statements of the Trawell Co Group as of 
30 June 2019 

Share capital Euro 14,158,082 
Company subject to management and coordination of RG Holding S.r.l. 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

BALANCE SHEET 
30.06.2019 31.12.2018

Values in euro

Non current assets
Other intangible fixed assets 1 871.568 2.139.424
Goodwill 2 22.172.537 22.172.537
Land, properties, plants and machinery 3 3.931.927 4.319.689

land and property 1.251.719 1.286.844
plants and machinery 2.469.451 2.868.891

other assets 210.757 163.954
Equity investments 4 1.545.463 -                    
Other non-current assets 5 400.110 113.749
Non current financial assets 6 1.487.918 1.220.834

restricted bank accounts 774.786 806.029
Securities 211.950 211.950

Deferred tax assets 7 64.117 423.644
Total Non current assets 30.473.640 30.389.877

Current assets
Inventories 8 1.121.950 1.000.205
Trade receivables 9 2.278.526 1.512.769

Trade receivables from the Parent Company 584 2.741                
Trade receivables from third parties - Parent company 355.524 175.948            

Trade receivables booked under subsidiaries 1.922.418 1.334.080         
Other current assets 10 3.971.708 2.324.799

Other receivables 2.458.538 690.677
VAT receivables - accruals and deferrals 1.142.834 1.634.122

Other of the group 370.336 -                   
Current tax assets 11 593.644 428.225
Current financial assets 12 1.415.962       1.343.478         
Cash and cash equivalents 13 2.965.917 6.464.789
Total current assets 12.347.707 13.074.266

Non current assets held for distribution to shareholders 14 4.783.840       -                        

Total assets 47.605.187 43.464.142
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BALANCE SHEET 
30.06.2019 31.12.2018

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 14.158.082 14.158.082
Reserves 2.784.239 7.473.296
Valuation reserve (449.654) (52.661)
Profit (loss) carried forward 2.150.501 208.835
Net result for the period 431.522 1.930.033
Total equity attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company 19.074.690 23.717.585

Third-party SE 1.909.420 2.763.213

Total shareholders’ equity 15 20.984.110 26.480.798

Non current liabilities
Non current financial payables 16 6.555.317 7.516.687

Payables due to leasing companies 370.824 419.774
Payables for bank financing: 5.718.831 6.523.813

Loan to Safe Bag USA 465.662 473.100
Provisions for other employee benefits 17 450.377 425.914
Provisions for future risks and charges 18 225.863 482.632
Deferred tax liabilities 19 61.751 49.668
Other non current liabilities 20 461.685 -                    
Total non current liabilities 7.754.992 8.474.901

Current liabilities
Financial payables 21 2.935.635 2.079.307

Payables due to leasing companies 96.946 95.056
Bank financing 2.032.342 1.163.029
Bank accounts 485.798 821.222

Other financial payables 320.549 -                   
Commercial debts 22 7.804.914 3.661.485

Payables to parent company -                 -                   
Payables to others 7.804.914 4.194.234

Other current liabilities 23 7.083.856 1.893.914
Payables for dividends in kind 4.783.840 -                    

Tax and social security payables 797.490 575.296
Payables to employees 622.955 278.601

Payables for tax consolidation 78.212
Payables to the parent company             45.000               45.000 

Other current liabilities           756.361             995.017 
Liabilities for current taxes 24 964.214 873.736
Derivative financial instruments 25 77.468 -                    

Total current liabilities 18.866.087 8.508.442

Liabilities directly correlated to assets owned for sale -                      -                        

Total SE and liabilities 47.605.187 43.464.142
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT
Note 30.06.2019 30.06.2018

Values in euro 

Revenues 26 21.654.235 16.957.481
Changes due to internal works 27 290.354 103.873
Change in inventories 28 33.281 (28.531)
Other proceeds 26 443.567 1.260.335
Total revenues 22.421.437 18.293.159
Purchasing costs 29 (1.653.170) (1.299.930)
Service costs 30 (11.209.009) (8.428.520)
Personnel costs 31 (6.970.903) (5.324.409)
Other operating costs 32 (1.531.523) (217.851)
Operational costs (21.364.606) (15.270.710)

Gross operating margin 1.056.832 3.022.449
Amortization 1,3 (624.211) (385.582)
Allocations for risks 33 (200.256) (50.518)
Revaluations / (Write-downs) -                  0
Operating result 232.365 2.586.349
Financial proceeds 1.786.017 53.767
Financial charges (334.925) (136.813)
Net financial proceeds (charges) 34 1.451.092 (83.046)

Result before taxes 1.683.457 2.503.303

Taxes 35 (697.915) (600.727)

Net result  (A) 985.542 1.902.576

Ascribable to:
(Net income)/loss pertaining to third parties (554.020) (872.562)
Result pertaining to the Group 431.522 1.030.014

Other Profit/(Losses) from the comprehensive income statement

Other components of the comprehensive income statement 
which will be subsequently booked to the income statement

Foreign currency translation of financial statements (56.493) (178.850)

Other components of the comprehensive income statement 
which will be subsequently booked to the income statement

Actuarial net income/(loss) relative to "defined benefit plans" (389.668)

Total other net income/(loss) net of the fiscal effect (B) (446.161) (178.850)

Total comprehensive net income / (loss) (A) + (B) 929.049 1.723.726
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CASHFLOW STATEMENT
Values in euro 

30.06.2019 30.06.2018

Net income (loss) of the period before taxes 1.683.457 2.503.303

Adjustments due to:
 - non-monetary items- changes in inventories (165.765) (63.842)
 - non-monetary items- allocations / (releases) 200.256 50.518
 - non-monetary items-amortization/depreciation 624.211 385.582
 - non-monetary items- evaluation of financial assets (1.741.480) -                       
Adjusted net income of the period (loss) before taxes 600.679 2.875.561

Liquid funds from operations
 - Income taxes (1.572.242) (460.418)

Total (1.572.242) (460.418)

Changes in working capital
Changes in trade receivables (3.148.878) (408.910)
Changes in trade payables 5.029.971 279.886
Changes in other receivables and payables (724.592) (145.586)
Other changes 53.769 (178.850)
Changes in termination indemnities and other provisions (310.499) (147.388)

Total 899.771 (600.847)

Cash flows from operations (1) (71.792) 1.814.296

Investments:
- Tangible (766.407) (451.255)
 - Intangible (125.065) (8.841.490)
 - Financial (339.568) (20.338)
Cash flows from investments (2) (1.231.040) (9.313.084)

Financial activities
Increase/(decrease) in financial payables (105.042) 5.321.283
Dividends disbursed (313.406) (1.429.661)
Other changes in shareholders' equity (17.958) 3.746.776
Cash flow from financing activities (3) (436.405) 7.638.398

Cash flow from operating assets (1.739.237) 139.610

Cash flow not included between non current assets owned for 
distribution to shareholder (1.759.634) -                       

Change in liquid funds  (1+2+3) (3.498.872) 139.610

Liquid funds at year start 6.464.789 2.634.315
Liquid funds at year end 2.965.917 2.773.925
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Movements in consolidated shareholders’ equity 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Movements Shareholder's equity

Values in euro

Share capital Reserves
Net income 

carried forward Profit of the year Group Total
Third party 
reserves

Result of third 
parties Total third parties Total

31/12/2017 13.485.250             168.809               505.210            1.806.381 15.965.650                   (165.609) 610.936 445.327 16.410.977             

Share Capital increase 672.832                  3.024.056            3.696.888 -                      3.696.888             

Allocation of the result 1.806.381         (1.806.381) -                                610.936 (610.936) -                      -                        

Changing in the consolidation area -                                29.527                 29.527                 29.527                  

Quotation SOS Travel 3.356.967 3.356.967 908.443               908.443               4.265.411             

Dividends distributed (1.156.847) (1.156.847) (485.268) (485.268) (1.642.115)

Overall result (75.107) (75.107) (4.465) (4.465) (79.572)

Result 1.930.033            1.930.033 1.869.647           1.869.647            3.799.680             

31/12/2018 14.158.082             6.474.725            1.154.744 1.930.033            23.717.585                   893.564 1.869.647           2.763.211            26.480.796             

Allocation of the result 1.930.033         (1.930.033) 0 1.869.647            (1.869.647) -                      0

Resolution share distribution SOS Travel (4.783.840) (4.783.840) -                      (4.783.840)

Deconsolidation SOS Travel (938.821) (938.821) (938.821)

Dividends distributed (313.406) (313.406) (313.406)

Overall result (290.577) (290.577) (155.584) (155.584) (446.161)

Result 431.522 431.522 554.020              554.020               985.542

30/06/2019 14.158.082             1.400.308            3.084.777 431.522               19.074.690                   1.355.400 554.020              1.909.420            20.984.110             
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2. Explanatory notes to the consolidated financial statements 

Introduction 

These consolidated half-year financial statements as of 30 June 2019 (henceforth referred to as "Condensed 
half-year financial statements" or "Consolidated financial statements") have been prepared in compliance 
with the obligations pursuant to the AIM Italia Regulation of Borsa Italiana S.p.A. 

The condensed half-year consolidated financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
("IASB") and endorsed by the European Union. “IFRS” also refers to the International Accounting Standards 
(“IAS”) that are still in force as well as all interpretational documents issued by the Interpretation 
Committee, previously known as the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) 
and, prior to that, as the Standing Interpretations Committee (“SIC”). In preparing these condensed half-
year financial statements, prepared in accordance with IAS 34 - Interim Financial Reporting, the same 
accounting standards adopted in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 
31, 2018 are applied, except as described in the following paragraph “Accounting standards, amendments 
and interpretations applied as of 1 January 2019”. 

It should also be noted that the information content of these condensed half-year financial statements is 
not comparable to that of complete financial statements prepared in accordance with IAS 1, particularly 
with reference to the lesser amount of information provided in relation to financial assets and liabilities. 

1. Basis for presentation  

The consolidated financial statements as of 30 June 2019 are composed of a Balance Sheet, Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, Statement of changes in Shareholders’ Equity, the Cash Flow Statement and the 
Explanatory Notes; it is accompanied by the report on operations of the directors. 

The outline used for the Balance Sheet provides for a distinction between current and non-current assets 
and liabilities. 

The Group has opted for the presentation of items relative to net income/loss of the year within a single 
statement of comprehensive income which includes the result of the year and, for similar categories, the 
proceeds and charges which, in accordance with the IFRS, are directly booked under shareholders’ equity. 
The adopted outline for the statement of comprehensive income provides for a classification of costs by 
nature.  

The statement of changes in shareholders’ equity includes not only the comprehensive profits/losses of the 
period but also the amounts of operations with share capital owners as well as movements in reserves 
during the year.  

 The cash flow statement reports financial flows from operating activities by utilizing the indirect method 
whereby the net income or loss of the year is adjusted as a result of the effects of non-monetary operations 
or as a result of any deferment or allocation of previous or future operational inflows or outflows as well as 
by revenue or cost items linked to financial flows deriving from investment or financial activities.   

The outlines for the balance sheet, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
shareholders’ equity and cash flow statement are in Euros; the values reported in the explanatory notes are 
also reported in Euros. 

2. Scope of consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements include the income statements and balance sheets as of 30 June 
2019 of the companies/entities included in the scope of consolidation (henceforth, the "consolidated 
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entities") prepared in accordance with the Group's IAS/IFRS accounting standards.  

A subsidiary company is defined as any firm over which the Group retains the following simultaneously:  

- decision-making power, ie the capacity to manage the primary activities of the subsidiary, ie those 
activities which have a significant effect on the results of the subsidiary itself;  

- a right to the variable results (positive or negative) derived from its shareholding in the consolidated 
entity;  

- a capacity to utilize its decision making powers to determine the amount of the results derived from 
a shareholding in the consolidated entity.  

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included within the consolidated financial statements from the 
date of acquisition of control to the date of termination of this control. The shareholders’ equity quotas and 
the result attributable to minority shareholders are reported separately and respectively within the 
consolidated Balance Sheet and Income Statement. 

The entities included within the scope of consolidation and the relative direct or indirect shareholding 
quotas held by the Group are listed below. 

Companies that are directly and 100% controlled are consolidated with the line-by line method. 
 
Below we indicate the list of shareholdings of Trawell Co S.p.A.: 
 

 
 
* The company Safe Bag USA LLC was founded without a share capital payment, as permitted by applicable 
US legislation. The contribution of financial resources was implemented through a loan from Trawell Co S.p.A.. 
** The share capital of the company Sostravel.com S.p.A. - following the assignment of the Bonus Shares, 
and as of 11 September 2019 - amounted to Euro 598,122 (see note 4 “Other financial assets valuated at 
fair value booked under the other items of the income statement “ for complete information). 

Company name Founding date Registered office Currency Share capital % ownership (dir. or indir.)

FSB SERVICE SARL 15/02/2007 58 Avenue Wagram 75017 PARIS Euro 50.000 100%

FLYSAFEB UNIPESSOAL LDA 10/11/2011
Rua Tomás da Fonseca, Torres de Lisboa,
Torre G, 5º Andar  1600-209 Lisboa - 

Euro 20.000 100%

SAFE BAG USA LLC* 21/05/2012
1111 Lincoln Road suite 400 Miami Beach,
FL 33139

Dollaro 0 100%

SAFE WRAP OF FLORIDA JV LLC 29/05/2012 4050 N.W. 29 Street Miami FL 33142 Dollaro 300.000 75%

SAFE BAG SAGL 21/02/2002 AEROPORTO DI ZURIGO CHF 20.000 100%

SAFE BAG BRASIL LTDA 08/05/2015
Avenida Pedro de Morais 318- San Paulo-
Brasile

BRL 0 100%

SAFE BAG CANADA INC 04/02/2016
600-3300 Highway #7 West – Vaughan on
L4K 4M3, Canada

CAD 140,60 100%

SOS TRAVEL.COM S.p.A. 27/11/2017 Via Olona 183/G- Gallarate (VA)-Italia EUR 593.400** 100%

SAFE BAG POLSKA SP.Z.O.O. 15/05/2017
UL. Stanislava Moniuszki nr 1- Warszawa-
Polonia

PLN 5.000 100%

CARE4BAG 08/04/2013
Spata, Attica Greece Athens International
Airport

EUR 24.000 60%

WRAPPING SERVICE LLC 28/07/2016
Via Efimova, nr 1/4, A- San Pietroburgo -
Russia

RUB 10.000 51%

PACK&FLY GROUP OU 19/09/2014
Harju Maakond, Tallin, KesKlinna linnaosa,
Navra, mnt 13,10151 - Estonia

EUR 2.500 51%

SAFE BAG LATAM PERU S.A.C 15/12/2017
Avenida - Paseo De La Republica Prov: Lima
150131 San Isidoro

SOL 3.000 100%

UAB PACKETAS 01/08/2014
Vilniaus m. sav. Vilnius City Giruliai g. 10-
201- Lituania

EUR 2.896 100%

BAGAZH LTD 14/10/2014
Kyrgyzstan, Bishkek, prosp. Chui, 4 A -
Kyrgyzstan

KGS 10.000 100%

BIZNES ZAL LTD 16/10/2016
Kyrgyzstan, Bishkek, prosp. Chui, 4 A -
Kyrgyzstan

KGS 1.000 100%

PACK&FLY GROUP CHILE SPA 13/02/2018 Chili - Santigo, Agustinas 641 piso 5 CLP 5.000.000 100%

PACK AND FLY LUGGAGE
WRAPPING SERVICES INC.

13/08/2018
Philippines - Room 210 2/F Medalle
building Osmena boulevard Capitol site, 

PHP 529.733 100%

PACK & FLY CO.LTD 28/10/2015
Thailand -1108/31 Sukhumvit Road,
Phrakanong, Klongtoey, Bangkok 10110

THB 2.000.000 100%
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Consolidation criteria  

The primary consolidation criteria are as follows:   
- the book value of the shareholdings included in the scope of consolidation was cancelled against 

the relative shareholders’ equity and in connection with the assumption of assets and liabilities 
according to the line by line method; any difference arising from the aforementioned cancellation- 
after being attributed, where possible, to the individual items of assets and liabilities - is used to 
adjust the group's shareholders' equity and allocated to the item “profits (losses) carried forward”;   

- debit and credit items as well as costs and revenues, received dividends and potential other 
operations between the companies included within the scope of consolidation are cancelled;   

- in order to convert financial statements reported in foreign currencies into Euro, the following 
criteria were adopted, in accordance with currently effective regulations:   

• assets and liabilities are valuated at the spot exchange rate in force on 30 June 2019;  

• income statement items are valuated by applying the average exchange rate of the period.  

Exchange rate differences deriving from the foreign currency translation of shareholders’ equity at historical 
exchange rates compared to those in force on the date of the financial statements – including the difference 
derived from the economic result generated by applying the average exchange rate of the period – are 
booked directly under shareholders’ equity within a specific “Foreign currency translation reserve”. 
 
The exchange rates used for the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are as follows: 

- daily Euro / dollar exchange rate as of 30 June 2019: 1.138 

- average period rate for Euro / Dollar as of June 2019: 1.1293 

- daily Euro / Swiss franc exchange rate as of 30 June 2019: 1.1105 

- average period rate for Euro / Swiss Franc as of June 2019: 1.1167 

- daily Euro / Canadian Dollar exchange rate as of 30 June 2019: 1.4893 

- average period rate for Euro / Canadian Dollar as of June 2019: 1.5011 

- daily Euro / Brazilian currency exchange rate as of 30 June 2019: 4.3511 

- average period rate for Euro / Brazilian currency as of June 2019: 4.360 

- daily Euro / Polish currency exchange rate as of 30 June 2019: 4.2635 

- average period rate for Euro / Polish currency as of June 2019: 4.2615 

- daily Euro / Chilean currency exchange rate as of 30 June 2019: 773.85 

- average period rate for Euro / Chilean currency as of June 2019: 781.65 

- daily Euro / Philippine currency exchange rate as of 30 June 2019: 58.3350 

- average period rate for Euro / Philippine currency as of June 2019: 58.4251 

- daily Euro / Peruvian currency exchange rate as of 30 June 2019: 3.7448 

- average period rate for Euro / Peruvian currency as of June 2019: 3.7619 

- daily Euro / Thai currency exchange rate as of 30 June 2019: 34.897 

- average period rate for Euro / Thai currency as of June 2019: 35.139 

- daily Euro / Kyrgyzstani currency exchange rate as of 30 June 2019: 80.5866  
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- average period rate for Euro / Kyrgyzstani currency as of June 2019: 79.8869 

- daily Euro / Russian currency exchange rate as of 30 June 2019: 71.5975 

- average period rate for Euro / Russian currency as of June 2019: 72.4028 

 (Source: Bank of Italy http://cambi.bancaditalia.it)   

 
With regard to information on the performance of the Group's operations as well as on the main events 
that occurred during 2019 and those occurring after the closing date of the half-year, please refer to what 
is indicated in the Report on Operations accompanying these consolidated explanatory notes.   
 

3. Applied accounting principles 

General principles for the preparation of interim results 

The monthly economic-financial results report fluctuations that are due to the seasonal nature of the air 
transportation business and, therefore, with peak trends that are concentrated mainly in the summer and 
winter periods coinciding with the Christmas holidays; this has therefore a positive effect on the 
performance of the third and fourth quarters of each year. 

It follows that the interim results of the Group do not contribute uniformly to the formation of the economic 
and financial results of each year. 

Taxes are calculated with respect to the result of the period and based on the best estimate of the tax rate 
that is forecasted to be applied to the result for the entire year. 

Costs incurred in a non-homogeneous or linear manner during the financial year are anticipated and/or 
deferred at the end of the half-year but only to the extent that the advance and/or deferral thereof is in 
compliance with the accounting principles for the preparation of the annual financial statements. 

Fundamental assumptions regarding the future - and other causes of uncertainty when making estimates 
on the date of the financial statements which may cause significant adjustments to the book values of assets 
and liabilities in the following year - are mainly related to: 

• processes for assessing impairment of non-recurring assets; these are generally carried out 
completely only during the preparation of the annual financial statements, except in cases where 
there are indicators of impairment; 

• the process for determining the allowance for doubtful receivables; 

• the process for valuating inventories. 

 

 

4. Valuation of fair value 

With regard to financial instruments valuated at fair value, the classification of these instruments on the 
basis of the hierarchy of levels pursuant to IFRS 13 is reported below; this hierarchy reflects the significance 
of the inputs used to determine fair value. The following levels are provided for:  

Level 1 – non-adjusted prices reported in an active market for assets or liabilities subject to valuation;  

Level 2 - inputs other than the quoted prices mentioned in the preceding paragraph and which are directly 
observable within the market (as in the case of prices) or indirectly observable (ie derived from prices);  

Level 3 - inputs that are not based on observable market data  
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As of 30 June 2019 there were assets and liabilities valuated at fair value and with the levels shown below: 

 

 
 

 

5. Financial risks 

The Group is primarily exposed to financial risks, credit risk and liquidity risk.  

 

Risks deriving from fluctuations in exchange rates 

The group is subject to market risk deriving from exchange rate fluctuations given that it operates in an 
international context and with transactions implemented in different currencies. Exposure to risk is due to 
both the geographical distribution of commercial activities as well as the various countries in which the 
purchases are implemented. Specific operations for hedging currency fluctuation risks are implemented by 
undersigning currency option contracts and forward currency purchase (outrights). 

 

 

Interest rate risk 

Given that financial debt is predominantly governed by variable interest rates, the Group is exposed to the 
risk of their fluctuation. Interest rate trends are constantly monitored by the company and, depending on 
the trend, the opportunity to adequately hedge against interest rate risk may be assessed. The Group does 
not current implement hedging operations given the low impact of interest rate fluctuations on the income 
statement. 

 

Credit risk represents the Company's exposure to potential losses deriving from the non-fulfillment of the 
obligations assumed by the counterparties. 

Values in Euro
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Prices quoted 
in an active 

market

Valuation 
techniques based 

on variables 
observable on 

the market

Valuation techniques that 
incorporate significant 

variables that cannot be 
observed on the market Total

Financial assets
 - at fair value and offset in the income statement (FVTPL) -                  -                        -                                                -              
 - at fair value and offset in the equity  (AFS) 1.545.463      -                        1.545.463 
 - derivatives -                  -                        -              
 - loans and receivables -                  -                        -                                                -              

TOTAL 1.545.463      -                        -                                                1.545.463 

Financial liabilities:
 - at fair value and offset in the income statement -                  -                        -                                                -              
 - derivatives -                  77.468                 -                                                77.468       

TOTAL -                  77.468                 -                                                77.468       

 30 June 2019
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Assessment of credit risk at the consolidated level is therefore not very relevant. 

 

Liquidity risk 

The Group finances its operations through both cash flows generated by operational management and 
through the use of external financing sources; it is therefore exposed to liquidity risk, represented by the 
fact that the financial resources are not sufficient to meet the financial and commercial obligations pursuant 
to stipulated terms and deadlines. Cash flows, financing needs and the liquidity of the group are monitored 
by taking into account the maturity of financial assets (trade receivables and other financial assets) as well 
as the cash flows expected from the relative transactions. The Group retains both secured and unsecured 
lines of credit consisting of revocable short-term credit lines in the form of hot loans, bank overdrafts and 
unsecured oans. Group liquidity as of 30 June 2019 is managed by primary bank corporations and the 
company is able of ensuring that - at all times - the Group retains sufficient credit lines to meet the financial 
deadlines of the following twelve months. 

6. Accounting principles and interpretations 

 
6.1 Adopted accounting principles 
 
The accounting standards which were adopted are the same as those used for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2018 - and to which reference is made for more details 
- except for: 
 

• the following new principles or changes to existing principles, which apply as of 1 January 2019: 
 

IFRS 16 - Leases: the impact deriving from the initial application of this standard - which replaces 
the previous IAS 17 - is described in note 6.2 “Impacts deriving from the adoption of IFRS 16 - 
Leases”; 

 
IFRIC 23 - uncertainty over income tax treatments: there are no impacts on the Group’s financial 
statements due to the application of this interpretation; 

 
Amendments to IFRS 9 - financial instruments: prepayment features with negative compensation 
and changes to financial liabilities: there are no impacts on the Group’s financial statements due to 
the application of these changes; 

 
Amendments to IAS 28 - Investments in associates and joint ventures: long-term investments in 
associates and joint ventures: there are no impacts on the Group's financial statements due to the 
application of these amendments; 

 
"Improvements" to the 2015-2017 IFRS cycle (issued by the IASB in December 2017): there are no 
impacts on the Group’s financial statements; 

 
Amendments to IAS 19 "Employee Benefits": there are no impacts on the Group's financial 
statements due to the application of these amendments. 

 
• income taxes are recognized on the basis of the best estimate of the weighted average rate 

forecasted for the entire year, in accordance with the indications provided by IAS 34 for the 
preparation of interim financial statements. 
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6.2 Impacts deriving from the adoption of IFRS 16 - Leases 
 
Following the application of the standard, the Group booked the following - as of the transition date (1 
January 2019) - in relation to the lease contracts that were previously classified as operating: 
 

• a financial liability equal to the present value of future residual payments on the transition date, 
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate applicable to the transition date for each contract. 

 
• a right of use equal to the value of the financial liability on the transition date, net of any accrued 

income and deferred charges/accrued liabilities and deferred income relative to the lease and 
recognized in the balance sheet on the transition date. 

 
The following table reports the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the transition date: 
 

 
 
The Group has chosen to apply the standard retrospectively, booking the cumulative effect deriving from 
the application of the principle in shareholders’ equity as of 1 January 2019 (modified retrospective 
method). The comparative data for the first half of 2018 have not been restated. 
 
With reference to the transition rules, the Group made use of a practical expedient available in the case of 
choice of the modified retrospective transition method, ie the classification of contracts that expire within 
12 months from the transition date as a short term lease. For these contracts the lease installments will be 
booked in the income statement on a linear basis; 

Values in euro

Non current assets

Intangible fixed assets
- Property right of use                                 12.088 
- Office and IT equipment 
right of use                                 15.071 

- Cars, light-duty vehicle 
and similar right of use

23.221

Total assets 50.380

Non current liabilities

Payables due to other 
lenders                                 33.547 

Total 33.547

Current liabilities

Payables due to other 
lenders                                 16.833 

Total 16.833

Total liabilities 50.380
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The transition to IFRS 16 introduces certain elements of professional judgement and the use of assumptions 
as well as estimates in relation to the lease term and the definition of the incremental borrowing rate. The 
primary factor is related to the contract renewal clauses which are considered for the purposes of 
determining the duration of the contract, ie when the Group has the option to exercise them without the 
need to obtain the consent of the counterparty and their exercise is considered reasonably certain. 
 
 
IFRS 16 Leases - accounting policies adopted as of 1 January 2019 
 
 
 
The following are the changes to the accounting policies adopted by the Group with respect to those applied 
as of 31 December 2018 due to the entry into force - on 1 January 2019 - of the new IFRS 16 standard. 
 
As of the date in which the assets subject to the lease contract are available for use by the Group, lease 
contracts are accounted for as rights of use under non-current assets with a financial liability as offsetting 
item. 
The cost of the fee is broken down into its items of financial charge - booked under the income statement 
during the period of the duration of the contract - and of repayment of the capital which is recorded as a 
decrease of the financial liability.  
The right of use is amortized on a monthly basis on a straight line basis during the shorter period between 
the useful life of the asset and the duration of the contract. 
 
Rights of use and financial liabilities are initially valuated at the present value of future payments. 
The present value of financial liabilities for lease contracts includes the following payments: 

- fixed payments 
- variable payments based on an index or a rate 
- The exercise price of a redemption option if the exercise of the option is considered reasonably 

certain 
- payment of penalties to terminate the contract if the exercise of the option to terminate the 

contract is considered reasonably certain 
- optional payments after the non-cancellable period, if the extension of the contract beyond the 

non-cancellable period is considered reasonably certain. 
 
Future payments are discounted by using the incremental borrowing rate. This rate consists of the risk free 
rate of the country in which the contract is negotiated and based on the duration of the contract. It is then 
adjusted on the basis of the Group's credit spread and the local credit spread. 
The usage rights are valuated at cost which is composed of the following items: 

- initial amount of the financial liability 
- payments made before the start of the contract net of the leasing incentives that were received; 
- ancillary charges that were directly attributable 
- estimated costs for dismantling or restoration. 

 
The rents associated with the following types of lease contracts are recognized in the income statement on 
a linear basis for the duration of the respective contracts: 

- contracts with a duration of less than 12 months for all asset classes; 
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- contracts for which the underlying asset is classified as a low-value asset, ie the unit value of the 
underlying assets does not exceed 5 thousand Euro when new; 

- contracts for which the payment for the right to use of the underlying asset varies depending on 
changes in facts or circumstances (not linked to sales trends), and not foreseeable on the initial 
date. 

 
Low-value contracts mainly refer to the following categories of assets: 

- Computers, phones and tablets; 
- Office and multifunction printers; 
- Other electronic devices. 

 
 

BALANCE SHEET 

1. Intangible fixed assets  

The item "Intangible fixed assets" amounted to Euro 871,568 (Euro 2,139,424 as of 31 December 2018). The 
composition of intangible fixed assets as of 30 June 2019 is as follows: 

 

 
 

All costs booked under intangible fixed assets are reasonably correlated with a useful life extending over 
several years, and are systematically amortized in relation to their residual possibility of use. The item 
"decreases / reclassifications" mainly refers to the deconsolidation of the former subsidiary Sostravel.com 
S.p.A.. 

2. Goodwill  

Goodwill of € 22,172,537 includes € 11,995,145 from the consolidation of the subsidiaries FSB Service Sarl, 
Fly Safeb Unipessoal Lda as well as € 479,276 from the consolidation of the subsidiary Safe Bag Sagl, € 
8,373,932 from the consolidation of the subsidiary Wrapping Service LLC and Pack & Fly Group OU and Euro 
966,631 from the consolidation of the Greek subsidiary Care4Bag. The value of the goodwill which was 
booked was the result of the application of IFRS 3 after having valuated assets and liabilities at their fair 
value.  Under IFRS, goodwill is not amortized systematically in the income statement but is subject to a 
valuation carried out at least annually for the purposes of identifying any loss in value ("impairment test").  

The Group has decided to apply IFRS 3 “Business combinations” in a prospective manner as of the date of 
transition, thereby avoiding the need to re-calculate the goodwill generated from acquisitions prior to that 
date; the value of goodwill is fixed on the transition date. In particular, the value of goodwill booked in the 
2013 consolidated financial statements for a total of 12,542 thousand Euro was maintained for the purposes 

Values in euro
Trademarks 
and patents

Software Others Total

Values as of 31.12.2018             18.786        1.791.262           329.376        2.139.424 

Changes during the year:
 - Acquisitions in the period               7.413 7.413             
- Increase from operations under common control
 - Business combination
 - Decrease / Reclassifications (1.228.359) (1.228.359)
- amortization (2.021) (37.746) (7.141) (46.909)

Total changes (2.021) (1.258.693) (7.141) (1.267.855)
 Values as of 30.06.2019 16.765 532.569 322.234 871.568
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of continuity at the time of transition (decreased in 2014 by 68 thousand Euro which refer to the write-
down of the goodwill of the Spanish subsidiary).  

During the first half of 2019, there were no impairment indicators.  

As required by international standard IAS 36, it has therefore not been necessary to carry out an interim 
impairment test which will instead be implemented in the financial statements of 31 December 2019. 

3. Tangible fixed assets 

The item "Tangible assets" amounted to € 3,931,927 (€ 4,319,689 as of 31 December 2018). 
The breakdown of tangible fixed assets as of 30 June 2019 is as follows: 
 

 
 

The main increases are ascribable to the items plants and machinery as well as other items that are mainly 
relative to the purchase of baggage wrapping machines and office furnishings.  

The main "Disposals" are ascribable to the deconsolidation of the former subsidiary Sostravel.com S.p.A. 

During the first half of 2019, there were no circumstances that made it necessary to review the estimated 
useful lives of tangible fixed assets. On the closing date of the half-year, the Group ascertained that there 
were no indications that the tangible fixed assets booked under assets could have sustained a decrease in 
value and, consequently, considered these values fully recoverable. 

 

4. Other financial assets valuated at fair value recognized under the other items of the 
comprehensive income statement 

 
The item includes 660,454 shares of SosTravel.com S.p.A. representing an investment equal to 11.13% of 
the share capital. The shareholders' meeting of Trawell Co on 29 April 2019 approved the distribution of a 
dividend in kind consisting of 73.13% of the share capital held in SosTravel.com. On the basis of this 
resolution, the net assets subject to distribution have been reclassified under "Non-current assets held for 
distribution to shareholders", in accordance with international accounting standard IFRS 5. 

The equity investment, equal to 11.13% of the share capital and with a historical cost of Euro 194 thousand, 
was remeasured at fair value on the date of the loss of control, as per IFRS 10. The 660,454 SosTravel.com 
shares were therefore valuated at the fair value on 29 April 2019 (date of the resolution of the distribution 
of dividends in kind approved by the Board of Directors of Trawell Co), equal to Euro 2.93 per share, and 
with the recognition of income equal to 1,741 thousand Euro. 

Values in euro
Land and 
buildings

Plants and 
machinery Equipment Others Total

Net book value as of 31.12.2018           1.286.844         2.868.891               20.229             143.725        4.319.689 

Changes during the year:
- Increase from operations under common 
control                       - 

-  acquisitions                13.910              94.425               90.614             100.515 299.465
- Disposals (8.277) (53.744) (49.735) 1.833 (109.924)
- amortization (40.758) (440.120) (57.858) (38.566) (577.302)

Total changes (35.125) (399.440) (16.979) 63.782 (387.762)

Net book value as of 31.12.2018 1.251.719 2.469.451 3.250 207.506        3.931.927 
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The residual shareholding was, at the time of booking, designated as a "financial asset valuated at fair value 
recognized in the other items of the comprehensive income statement"; it was therefore valuated at its 
stock market value of 30 June 2019, equal to Euro 2.34 per share, with the recognition of a negative change 
of 390 thousand Euro, booked under the other items of the comprehensive income statement. 

5. Other non-current assets 

The item "Other non-current assets" amounted to € 400,110 (€ 113,749 as of 31 December 2018) and mainly 
refers to security deposits in Brazil for € 291,306 and Greece for € 86,342.  

6. Non-current financial assets 

The item "Non-current financial assets" were equal to Euro 1,487,918 (Euro 1,220,834 as of 31 December 
2018). 

The item includes "securities, shares in portfolio" for € 211,950: these include securities owned by Trawell 
Co S.p.A. which were issued as guarantees in favor of the reference bank in relation to sureties issued by 
the bank in favor of the airports.  This item concerns in particular the deposit of securities consisting of bond 
funds and government securities with Banca Intesa San Paolo. 
  
The item also includes restricted bank accounts for € 774,786; these refer to guarantees provided in Rome 
and Bologna airports and the accounts are held by the parent company.   
 
7. Deferred tax assets 
This item includes prepaid taxes for timing differences which will occur in subsequent years. 

 

 
 

The decrease of € 309,600 is attributable to deferred tax assets as of 31 December 2018 which were booked 
in the accounts of the former subsidiary Sostravel.com S.p.A. 

Deferred tax assets arising in relation to timing differences - which are expected to occur in the years 
following the first half of 2019 - have been calculated by using an IRES rate of 24% and IRAP of 3.9%. 

8. Inventories 

The item "Inventories" is equal to Euro 1,121,950 (Euro 1,000,205 as of 31 December 2018). 

A breakdown of warehouse inventories as of 30 June 2019 is shown below by type and geographical area of 
reference: 

Values in euro

Prepaid taxes 31.12.2018 Use Allocation 30.06.2019
Intangible and tangible assets -              -              
Tax losses -              -              
Compensation not paid to directors -              -              
Termination indemnities 12.294        12.294        
Higher tax value SOS Travel shareholding (within PEX limits) 2.660          2.660          
Estimated exchange rate losses 1.895          1.895          
Risk provisions 3.937          3.937          
Write-downs of receivables 25.900        25.900        
Others 4.887          760          4.127          
Total 51.573        760          -             -         50.813        
Sos Travel 358.767      49.167     309.600 -              
Russia 13.304        13.304        
Total 423.644 49.927 -             309.600 64.117
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Given the elevated turnover of warehouse stock, there were no problems relating to obsolescence with a 
consequent provision for depreciation equal to zero. The item “Other” includes spare parts and technical 
materials pertaining to the internal production of luggage wrapping machines.  

9. Trade receivables 

The item "Trade receivables" was equal to Euro 2,278,526 (Euro 1,512,769 as of 31 December 2018). 

The Group does not have any particular problems in terms of credit recovery.  Receivables are shown net of 
the allowance for doubtful accounts. The change during the 2019 half-year is mainly attributable to the 
deconsolidation of the former subsidiary Sostravel.com S.p.A. as well as an increase claimed by the 
subsidiaries of Brazil, Russia and Estonia for receivables due from airports for current commercial 
transactions. 

10. Other current assets 

The item "Other current assets" is equal to Euro 3,971,708 (Euro 2,324,799 as of 31 December 2018). 

The item mainly includes: receivables booked in the parent company for €109,330 relative to other 
receivables as well as € 869,389 for deferred charges; receivables booked in the French company FSB Service 
Sarl for € 1,235,500 as other receivables and € 123,140 for deferred charges; and receivables booked in the 
Russian company for € 1,113,708 as other receivables and € 150,305 for deferred charges.  

11. Current tax assets 

The item amounts to Euro 593,644 (Euro 428,225 as of 31 December 2018). 

The item mainly includes, with reference to the Parent Company, receivables due from tax authorities for € 
9,290, € 408,692 for taxes relative to FSB, and € 128,828 for taxes relative to Care4Bag. 

12. Current financial assets 

The item amounts to Euro 1,415,962 (Euro 1,343,478 as of 31 December 2018). 

The item mainly refers to the American JV subsidiary and the Russian subsidiary. 

13. Cash and cash equivalents 

The item "Cash and cash equivalents" was equal to € 2,965,917 (€ 6,464,789 as of 31 December 2018) and 
refers to Group bank deposits. The decrease was due to the deconsolidation of the former subsidiary 
SosTravel.com S.p.A, and amounted to 3.3 million as of 31 December 2018; this change was attributable - 
for € 1.7 million - to the liquidity booked in the item non-current assets held for distribution to shareholders 
and the remainder to the decrease in this item in the half-year financial statements of the former subsidiary 
SoStravel.com S.p.A.  The item also includes collections for sales at airports - booked by the parent company 
for Euro 107,898 - and which, as of 30 June 2019 - were not yet deposited with bank institutions. 

 

Values in euro

Inventories 30.06.19 Italy France Portugal Switzerland USA Canada Poland Brazil Russia Peru Estonia Greece Total
Plastic Roles 84.137 39.753 40.119 2.925 41.504 40.500 2.634 9.895 67.689 14.273 8.851 827 353.108
Stickers 15.086 8.457 7.987 414 3.868 5.978 890 2.275 71.613 2.713 457 119.737
Flyers 5.985 5.587 3.321 525 883 436 4.111 75 820 21.744
Tape 1.175 212 161 263 1.811
Travel Goods 63.352 76.225 46.165 22.142 5.603 13.067 3.346 5.601 128.857 5.147 10.943 2.200 382.648
Uniforms 94.143 9073,185 103.216
Others 72.921 1.579 470 104 697 29 60.426 843 2.618 139.687
Total 336.798 131.600 98.275 26.271 50.975 61.388 7.336 17.772 341.769 22.208 21.094 6.465 1.121.950
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14. Non-current assets held for distribution to shareholders 

This item includes the portion of net assets deriving from the deconsolidation of SosTravel.com S.p.A., as 
reported in note 4 and to which full reference is made. This item is constituted as follows: 

 
 

15. Shareholders’ equity 

The item "Shareholders' Equity" was equal to Euro 19,074,689 (Euro 23,717,585 as of 31 December 2018). 

The composition and movements of the Group's shareholders’ equity are summarized in the following 
tables. 

 

Statement of reconciliation between shareholders’ equity and net income of the year for the parent 
company and consolidated shareholders’ equity and net income for the period of the Group  

The reconciliation is reported in the following table: 

 
 

 

 

Description (thousands of euro)

Other intangible fixed assets 1.393
Land, properties, plants and machinery 540
Deferred tax assets 310
Inventories 44
Commercial credits 1.251
Other current assets 140
Assets for current taxes 861
Liquid funds and equivalent instruments 1.760
Funds for other employee benefits (14)
Risks funds and future liabilities (108)
Commercial payables (897)
Other current liabilities (463)
Liabilities for current taxes (33)

Total non current assets owned for the distribution to shareholders 4.784                     

Values in euro
Equity Operating result

Company financial statements of the parent company 20.490.661 552 

Effect of consolidation of subsidiaries' financial statements 2.266.607 2.039.866 
US Correction for the applicaiton of the equity method & Pack&Fly -3.653.202 -570.395 
Elision of dividends -902.770 
Deconsolidation SOS -29.380 -135.732 

Equity and total result 19.074.690            431.522                         
Equity and result of third parties 1.909.420 554.020 
Equity and Group result 10.984.110            985.542 
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Movements in consolidated shareholders’ equity for the past three years is reported below: 

 
 

Share Capital as of 15 July 2019 was as follows: 

 

 

 

16. Non-current financial payables 

The item "Non-current financial payables" amounted to Euro 6,555,317 (Euro 7,516,687 as of 31 December 
2018). 

Movements Shareholder's equity

Values in euro

Share capital Reserves
Net income 

carried forward Profit of the year Group Total
Third party 
reserves

Result of third 
parties Total third parties Total

31/12/2017 13.485.250             168.809               505.210            1.806.381 15.965.650                   (165.609) 610.936 445.327 16.410.977             

Share Capital increase 672.832                  3.024.056            3.696.888 -                      3.696.888             

Allocation of the result 1.806.381         (1.806.381) -                                610.936 (610.936) -                      -                        

Changing in the consolidation area -                                29.527                 29.527                 29.527                  

Quotation SOS Travel 3.356.967 3.356.967 908.443               908.443               4.265.411             

Dividends distributed (1.156.847) (1.156.847) (485.268) (485.268) (1.642.115)

Overall result (75.107) (75.107) (4.465) (4.465) (79.572)

Result 1.930.033            1.930.033 1.869.647           1.869.647            3.799.680             

31/12/2018 14.158.082             6.474.725            1.154.744 1.930.033            23.717.585                   893.564 1.869.647           2.763.211            26.480.796             

Allocation of the result 1.930.033         (1.930.033) 0 1.869.647            (1.869.647) -                      0

Resolution share distribution SOS Travel (4.783.840) (4.783.840) -                      (4.783.840)

Deconsolidation SOS Travel (938.821) (938.821) (938.821)

Dividends distributed (313.406) (313.406) (313.406)

Overall result (290.577) (290.577) (155.584) (155.584) (446.161)

Result 431.522 431.522 554.020              554.020               985.542

30/06/2019 14.158.082             1.400.308            3.084.777 431.522               19.074.690                   1.355.400 554.020              1.909.420            20.984.110             

Data updated as of 15 Luglio 2019

Shareholding structure
No. of shares 

owned % CS

RG Holding S.r.l (1) 350.630 56,56%

A.C. Holding Investments SA 56.946 9,19%

Marchin Investments BV 40.000 6,45%

Polad Akhmedov e Alexander Fedoseev (2) 29.575 4,77%

Market 142.824 23,04%

Total 619.975 100%

(1) the data includes a shareholding owned directly by Rudolph Gentile
(2) shareholding subject to 3 years Lock-up from June 2018 (so not saleable 
except after the indicated period)
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The item is as composed as follows:  

 

 
 

Payables due to leasing companies 

The Leasing payable of Euro 370,824 refers to the non-current portion of the leasing payable arising from 
the two contracts with Selmabipiemme and one due to Unicredit, as listed below. 

• Contract No. 30176656/1 stipulated with Selmabipiemme Leasing on 22 November 2014 for the 
purchase of the industrial building located in Gallarate, via Olona, 183 G/H; this facility serves as the 
legal and administrative headquarters of the company. The 96-month contract provides for the 
reimbursement of the total value of Euro 720,000 through an advance payment of Euro 72,000 and 
95 monthly fees, plus a redemption price of Euro 72,000. 

• Appendix to contract no. 30176656/1 (identified with No. 30176661/1) stipulated with 
Selmabipiemme Leasing on 17 May 2016 for works relative to the rebuilding of the roof covering in 
asbestos, extraordinary maintenance and a plant engineering adjustment of the facility in Gallarate, 
via Olona, 183 G/H. The 78-month appendix provides for the reimbursement of the total value of 
Euro 165,000 through an advance payment of Euro 16,500 and 77 monthly fees, plus a redemption 
price of Euro 16,500. The works referred to in the appendix subject are already booked under 
tangible fixed assets of previous years given that they are as costs sustained by the company as a 
user of the property to which the maintenance works refer. 

The amount due to Unicredit Leasing, amounting to Euro 50,000, was booked and refers to the purchase 
of machinery necessary for the performance of the company's "core" activities. 

The payable was booked in accordance with IAS 17. 
 

Payables for bank financing: 

Bank loans outstanding as of 39 June 2019 amounted to Euro 5,718,831 and are mainly described below: 

• financing of originally Euro 4,500,000, disbursed on 27 June 2018 by Unicredit Banca for a period of 
69 months, with monthly repayments at a variable rate of 1.90% + Euribor 3 months. The residual 
debt as of 30 June 2019 is represented by the long-term portion of Euro 3,375,000 and a short-term 
portion of Euro 900,000; 

• financing of originally Euro 500,000, disbursed on 27 June 2018 by Unicredit Banca for a period of 
69 months, with monthly repayments at a variable rate of 1.90% + Euribor 3 months. The residual 
debt as of 30 June 2019 is represented by the long-term portion of Euro 375,000 and a short-term 
portion of Euro 100,000; 

• financing of originally Euro 459,982 disbursed on 11 August 2018 by Banca BPER for a period of 60 
months, with monthly repayments at a variable rate of 1.75% + Euribor 3 months. The residual debt 
as of 30 June 2019 is represented by the long-term portion of Euro 313,484 and a short-term portion 
of Euro 98,092; 

• financing of originally Euro 475,000 disbursed on 1 August 2018 by Banca Monte dei paschi for a 
period of 60 months with quarterly repayments at a variable rate of 1.70% + Euribor 6 months. The 

Non current financial payables
30.06.2019 31.12.2018 Change Change %

Payables due to leasing companies 370.824 419.774 (48.950) (12%)
Payables for bank financing: 5.718.831 6.523.813 (804.982) (12%)
Loan to Safe Bag USA 465.662 573.100 (107.438) (19%)
Total 6.555.317 7.516.687 (961.370) -13%
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residual debt as of 30 June 2019 is represented by the long-term portion of Euro 325,000 and a 
short-term portion of Euro 100,000; 

• financing of originally Euro 1,100,000 disbursed on 26 September 2018 by Banca Intesa San Paolo 
for a period of 54 months with quarterly repayments at a variable rate of 1.55% + Euribor 3 months. 
The residual debt as of 30 June 2019 is represented by the long-term portion of Euro 868,420 and a 
short-term portion of Euro 231,579; 

• financing of originally 500,000 disbursed in favor of Fly Safeb Unipessoal Lda by “Banco Santander” 
on 11 August 2016 for a duration of five years, including Euro 150,000 due beyond the year and a 
short term portion of Euro 100,000. 

There are also Euro 465,662 relative to the loan granted to Safe Bag USA LLC in 2014 by the related party 
Marchin Investment BV, repayable in 36 monthly installments as of January 2016 at a nominal annual rate 
of 3.5%. 

17. Provisions for other employee benefits 

The item "Provisions for other employee benefits" was equal to Euro 450,377 (Euro 425,914 as of 31 
December 2018). 

Plans in favor of employees, which can be classified as defined benefit plans, are represented by the 
severance indemnity (TFR) booked by the parent company; the liability is instead determined on an actuarial 
basis with the projected unit credit method.  Actuarial changes are not recorded given that they are not 
relevant.                                            

 

                                        

 

18. Provisions for future risks and charges 

The item "Provisions for future risks and charges" was equal to € 225,863 (€ 482,632 as of 31 December 
2018) and is mainly attributable to the provisions made to cover the risks deriving from potential future 
charges. The decrease is affected - as described repeatedly in this note - by the deconsolidation of the 
former subsidiary SosTravel.com S.p.A. for Euro 178,165. The tax risk provision was released given that it 
the debt for tax litigation became certain and was therefore booked under other non-current liabilities for 
the long-term portion and in other current liabilities for the short-term portion. 

Movements are as follows: 

 

 
 

 

Values in euro

Funds 31.12.2018 Provision Use 30.06.2019
Risks funds for complaints 12.600                   5.441                     (12.600) 5.441                     
Risks funds for taxes 100.000                 (100.000) -                         
Risks funds Flysafeb Unipessoal 3.832                     (1.046) 2.786                     
Risks funds SOS Travel 178.165                 (178.165) -                         
Risks funds Russia 56.857                   79.837                   (35.872) 100.822                 
Risks funds Brasile 67.909                   1.450                     69.359                   
Risks funds Canada 3.418                     1.104                     (3.418) 1.104                     
Risks funds FSB Service 59.850                   23.000                   (36.500) 46.350                   
Total 482.632                 110.833                 (367.601) 225.863                 
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19. Deferred tax liabilities 

The item "Deferred tax liabilities" was equal to Euro 61,751 (Euro 49,668 as of 31 December 2018) and refers 
entirely to the parent company. The movements are as follows: 

 

 
 

Deferred taxes refer partly to a real estate leasing agreement stipulated in 2014 and partly to unrealized 
exchange rate gains.  

20. Other non-current liabilities 

The item "Other non-current liabilities" was equal to Euro 461,685 (Euro Zero as of 31 December 2018) and 
is entirely attributable to the long-term portion of the debt for tax disputes arising in previous years in 
relation to the transfer prices applied in the context of the different types of intra-group transactions 
implemented during these tax periods with foreign subsidiaries. Please refer to the Report on Operations 
under the paragraph "Relations with Financial Administrations (in particular Italy and France)". 

21. Current financial payables 

The item "Current financial payables" was equal to Euro 2,935,635 (Euro 2,079,307 as of 31 December 
2018). 

This item consists mainly of payables booked for overdrafts for the amount of € 485,798 as well as short-
term quotas of loans for € 2,032,342 and the short-term portion of the payable to leasing companies for € 
96,946.  

22. Current trade payables 

The item "Current trade payables" was equal to Euro 7,804,914 (Euro 3,661,485 as of 31 December 2018).    

The item includes the balance of payables due to suppliers net of receivable credit notes and trade 
discounts.  

They mainly refer to payables due to airports as well as suppliers for the purchase of plastic film and travel 
goods and those due to professionals. The increase in the payable of circa € 4 million can primarily be 
ascribed to the deconsolidation of the former subsidiary SosTravel.com S.p.A for € 2.3 million in relation to 
services offered by the company within the group. The residual is ascribable to the increase in operating 
costs. 

23. Other current liabilities 

The item "Other current liabilities" was equal to € 7,083,858 (€ 1,893,914 as of 31 December 2018).    

The item includes tax and social security payables to personnel as well as dividends in kind. 

The item "social security and tax payables" was equal to € 797,490 (€ 575,296 as of 31 December 2018) and 
primarily includes the short-term portion of the payable for tax disputes. Please refer to the report under 

Values in euro
31.12.2018 Use Fund 30.06.2019

Financial leasing 22.504 22.504        
Profits on unrealised exchange 23.665 11.117                    34.782        
Ohers 3.249,00     3.249          
Total 49.418 -            11.117                    60.535        
Estonia 250             2                248             
Russia -              968                         968             
Total 49.668 2                12.085                    61.751
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note 20 "Other non-current liabilities". 

The item "Due to employees" was equal to Euro 622,955 (Euro 278,601 as of 31 December 2018) and 
primarily includes payables to employees for ordinary salaries paid in July 2019 as well as deferred salaries 
(accrued holidays and permits accrued and not taken, end of year bonuses). 

The item “Payables to the parent company” was equal to Euro 123,212 and includes the payables for tax 
consolidation. 

The item includes the amount of the dividend in kind approved by the shareholders' meeting of 29 April 
2019. In detail, the amount booked as the offsetting item of a decrease in shareholders' equity was equal 
to the value of the net assets that will be distributed to the shareholders, as per the previous paragraph 14. 
 

24. Liabilities for current taxes 

The item "Current tax liabilities" was equal to Euro 964,214 (Euro 873,736 as of 31 December 2018).   The 
item refers to liabilities for certain and determined taxes. 

 

25. Derivative financial instruments 

The item "Derivative financial instruments" was equal to Euro 77,468 (Euro Zero as of 31 December 2018). 
This item includes the fair value valuation - as of 30 June 2019 - of the derivative contract to hedge the 
interest rate risk on the Unicredit loan signed on 27 June 2018. 

 

INCOME STATEMENT  
 

26. Revenues from sales and other proceeds 

The item "Revenues from sales and other proceeds" amounted to Euro 22,421,437 (Euro 18,293,159 as of 
30 June 2018). 

The breakdown of revenues as of 30 June 2019, compared with the previous period, is shown below. 

 

 
 

Revenues from sales and services are shown net of returns, discounts and rebates. The item in question, 
equal to Euro 21,654,235 (28% compared to 30 June 2018), not only includes sales revenues deriving from 
the characteristic service of baggage wrapping at the airport but also includes revenues deriving from 
additional services offered by the company, such as weighing services, travel goods and smart tracks. The 
breakdown of core revenues as of 30 June 2019, compared with the figures as of 30 June 2018 and by 
geographical area, is shown below: 

 

Values in euro
30.06.2019 30.06.2018 Change Change %

Revenues from sales and services 21.654.235 16.957.481 4.696.754 28%
Changes due to internal works 290.354 103.873 186.481 2
Change in inventories 33.281 (28.531) 61.812 (217%)
Other revenues and proceeds 443.567 1.260.335 (816.768) -65%
Total 22.421.437 18.293.159 4.128.279 23%
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Other income, equal to Euro 443,567 (Euro 1,260,335 as of 30 June 2018), includes revenues deriving from 
ancillary operations, including contingent assets for the release of provisions for risks, revenues generated 
in the current year but pertaining to previous years, capital gains for asset disposal and a tax credit accrued 
following  expenses incurred both for research & development and for the listing of the former subsidiary 
Sostravel.com S.p.A.  These revenues were charged on an accruals basis for a duration equal to the 
depreciation period of the relative specific asset. 

27. Changes due to internal works 

The item amounts to Euro 290,354 (Euro 103,873 as of 30 June 2018), and includes costs capitalized as a 
result of an increase in proprietary software. 

28. Changes in inventories 

Changes in inventories of finished products total Euro 33,281 and refer to the change of the year. 

 
 
Operational costs 
 

The item "Operating Costs" was equal to Euro 21,364,607 (Euro 15,270,710 as of 30 June 2018). 

Below is the breakdown of costs as of 30 June 2019, compared with the previous period. 

 

 
 

29. Purchasing costs 

The item "Costs for purchases" was equal to Euro 1,653,170 (Euro 1,299,930 as of 30 June 2018). 

This item consists primarily of the costs for the purchase of components for the wrapping service with the 
residual amount due to travel goods. 

30. Service costs 

The item "Costs for services" was equal to Euro 11,209,009 (Euro 8,428,520 as of 30 June 2018). 

This item consists primarily of expenses relative to airport services as well as technical, administrative, 
commercial, fiscal and legal consulting services in addition to financial statement audits, rentals and 
maintenance services, third party processing, technical assistance services, marketing/sales 

Revenue Analysis by geographical area 30.06.2019 30.06.2018 Change Change %
Italia 2.110.267 2.480.267 (370.000) -15%
UE 7.759.562 7.497.214 262.348 3%
Extra UE 11.784.406 6.980.000 4.804.406 69%
Total 21.654.235 16.957.481 4.696.754 57%

Values in euro
30.06.2019 30.06.2018 Change Change %

Purchasing costs 1.653.170 1.299.930 353.240 27%
Service costs 11.209.009 8.428.520 2.780.489 33%
Personnel costs 6.970.903 5.324.409 1.646.494 31%
Other operating costs 1.531.523 217.851 1.313.672 603%
              Total operating costs 21.364.606 15.270.710 6.093.896 40%
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expenses/services, food and lodging expenses for travelling employees, advertising and promotional 
expenses, transportation services, compensation to Board members and statutory auditors. 

The increase is primarily attributable to the inclusion of costs for services of the subsidiaries Pack & Fly 
(which was consolidated last year - due to a technical factor - only for margins and not for revenues and 
costs) and Care4Bag (last year not present given that it was acquired in the second half of the year). 

31. Personnel costs 

The item "Personnel costs" was equal to Euro 6,970,903 (Euro 5,324,409 as of 30 June 2018). 

The item includes the all expenses for employees. 

 

32. Other operating costs 

The item "Other operating costs" was equal to Euro 1,531,523 (Euro 217,851 as of 30 June 2018). 

The item includes costs for taxes, duties and penalties for delayed payments as well as contingent liabilities 
that are primarily attributable to costs sustained by the Russian, Greek and Estonian subsidiaries. The 
difference with respect to the same data of the previous year is primarily attributable to the different scope 
of consolidation of the Russian subsidiary. 

33.  Allocations for risks 

The item "Provisions for risks" was equal to Euro 200,256 (Euro 50,518 as of 30 June 2018) and includes 
provisions for risks relative to the first half of 2019, and which must be liquidated in subsequent periods. 

34. Financial proceeds and charges 

The item "Financial proceeds and charges" was equal to Euro 1,451,092 (Euro 83,046 as of 30 June 2018). 

The item is composed as follows: 

 
 

The income item includes the proceeds relative to the revaluation of the residual shareholding in 
SosTravel.com S.p.A. (equal to 11.13% of the share capital) at fair value and on the date of the loss of control, 
as per IFRS 10. The 660,454 shares were valuated at the exact market value of 29 April, equal to Euro 2.93 
per share and with the recognition of an income of Euro 1,741 thousand. 

The item Financial charges mainly includes interest expense on tax bills, interest expense on bank accounts 
and bank loans. 

35. Taxes 

Current taxes have been ascertained on the basis of current regulations for each country. In the case of the 
parent company, the IRES rate applied in the year 2019 was equal to 24%, while the IRAP rate was applied 
on the basis of the region.  

Values in euro
30.06.2019 30.06.2018 change change %

Financial proceeds 1.786.017 53.767 1.732.250 3222%
Chargers proceeds (334.925) (136.813) (198.112) 145%
Total 1.451.092 (83.046) 1.534.138 (1.847%)
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Deferred taxes have been calculated on the basis of the global allocation criterion while taking into account 
the cumulative amount of all timing differences and on the basis of the expected average rates in effect 
when those timing differences will occur on the basis of the effective interest rate of the last year.  

Number of employees 

The number of employees and their professional positions on the date of closing of the year is illustrated in 
the following table: 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Values in euro

Current taxes 30.06.2019 30.06.2018 change change %

Current taxes IRES -                       (108.938) 108.938 100%
Current taxes IRAP -                       (45.591) 45.591 (100%)

TOTAL CURRENT TAXES -                       (154.529) 154.529 (100%)
Deferred taxes (anticipate)
deferred taxes (14.455) -                     
prepaid taxed (760) -                     

TOTAL DEFERRED TAXES (ANTICIPATE) (15.215) -                     
TOTAL TAXES (15.215) (154.529) 154.529 (100%)
Taxes Trawell.Co (491.494) -                     
Taxes SOS Travel (62.806) -                     
Taxes FSB -                       -                     
Taxes Flysafeb -                       (1.836) 1.836 (100%)
Taxes Safe Bag Sagl -                       (25.434) 25.434 (100%)
Taxes Brasile (4.441) -                     (4.441) 100%
Taxes Russia (46.359) (304.437) 258.078        100%
Taxes Estonia (26.115) (100.221) 74.106          100%
Taxes Grecia (51.485) -                     (51.485) 100%
Taxes USA (14.270) -                100%
GROUP'S TOTAL TAXES (697.915) (600.727) (97.188) 16%

SUMMARY 30.06.2019 31.12.2018

EXECUTIVES 1 0% 0 0%
MID-LEVEL MANAG 9 2% 5 1%
OFFICE EMPLOYE 46 11% 60 13%
WORKERS 355 86% 401 86%

TOTAL 411 466
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The subdivision of human resources by country is reported in the table below: 

 

 
 

Within the United States, there is only one employee given that operational activities are conducted by 
external personnel. 

 

Compensation due to members of company bodies    

The amount of compensation due to members of the corporate bodies for the six months ended 30 June 
2019 was reported in the following table. 

 
 

Information on operations with related parties  

Transactions with related parties primarily refer to the exchange of assets, the supply of services, funding 
and the use of financial resources with subsidiaries and other Group companies; they fall within the normal 
business operations of the Group companies and were stipulated at normal market conditions. These 
transactions are governed by specific service contracts. For the purposes of identifying and reporting related 
parties, reference is hereby made to the definition of "related party" provided in international accounting 
standard IAS 24. Although these transactions are completed at normal market conditions, significant 
transaction amounts with related parties are reported below, subdivided into financial and commercial 
transactions; for more details, refer to what is described in the specific paragraphs of these notes. 

SUMMARY 30.06.2019 31.12.2018

ITALY 76 73
FRANCE 110 107
PORTUGAL 16 14
SWITZERLAND 5 5
USA 1 1
CANADA 8 7
GREECE 17 25
ESTONIA 42 42
PERU 0 0
POLAND 1 0
BRAZIL 9 0
RUSSIA 126 192

TOTAL 411 466

parent company subsidiaries

-  remuneration 230.387              306.107              
-  employee work 70.471                135.604              
- consultancies 15.110                64.480                

15.080                35.902                

Compensation due to members of 
company bodies of the parent 

company

Board of Directors

Board of Statutory Auditors
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With regard to transactions with companies, these have already been illustrated in the explanatory notes 
and to which reference is made. 

In particular, it should be noted that the Parent Company retains - as of 30 June 2019 - trade receivables 
from the parent company RG Holding for Euro 584 as well as trade payables for Euro 128,014; in addition, 
Trawell.Co. has opted, for the three-year period 2017/2019, to adhere to the IRES tax consolidation under 
RG Holding. The payable as of 30 June 2019 deriving from the tax consolidation was equal to Euro 78,212. 
 
As indicated above, the company has commercial, legal, fiscal and corporate relationships with professional 
firms and consultants to which certain members of the Board of Directors refer. These transactions, which 
amount to a total of 104 thousand Euro, are carried out at market conditions.  

 
With regard to the other companies of the Group, the following should be noted: 

- Fly Safeb Unipessoal Lda has a trade payable of Euro 45,000 due to RG Holding; 

- SosTravel.com S.p.A. retains trade receivables from group companies of Euro 2.3 thousand as well as 
trade payables of Euro 0.3 thousand. 

- Safe Bag USA LLC reported the following financial relations: 

a. Marchin Investment: 

i. Financing of US$ 529,923; 

ii. Interest on financing: US$ 21,082; 

iii. Interest income within the income statement of US $ 17,580; 

b. Rudolph Gentile (previously included in the compensation table for subsidiary directors): 

i. Trade payables of US$ 15,785; 

ii. Costs US$ 64,821. 

- Safe Wrap of Florida reported the following financial relations: 

a. Homyn Enterprise Corp.: 

i. Costs of US$ 64,945 

b. Secure Wrap of Miami: 

i. Trade payables of US$ 55,388; 

ii. Costs US$ 204,000. 

- Wrapping Service LLC 

The Company retains receivables due from Fedoseev Alexander for 7,420 thousand RUR. 
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